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Report of the Board 

The Board presents its Report and the audited financial 

statements for the year ended 31 March 2006. 

Statement of Accounts 

This Statement of Accounts has been prepared in accordance 

with Schedule 1 of the Office of Communications Act 2002 and 

as directed by the Secretaries of State for Trade and Industry 

and for Culture, Media and Sport. The Accounts cover the 

period from 1 April 2005 to 31 March 2006. 

Principal activities 

Ofcom is a statutory corporation without shareholders, 

established under the Office of Communications Act 2002. 

Ofcom is empowered, under the Communications Act 2003, to 

regulate and license television, radio, the use of the radio 

spectrum and telecommunications in accordance with the duties 

imposed upon it under the Act. 

Operating and Financial Review 

The Chairman’s Message on pages 2 to 3, the Chief 

Executive’s Report on pages 4 to 9 and the Operating and 

Financial Review on pages 65 to 87 form part of this Report and 

provide information on the activities of Ofcom during the year. 

The financial statements of Ofcom are set out on pages 126 to 

153

External auditors 

The Comptroller and Auditor General, whose staff is the 

National Audit Office (NAO), is appointed as Ofcom’s external 

auditor under the Office of Communications Act 2002. The cost 

of the statutory audit for 2005/6 was £90,000.  

In so far as the Accountable Officer is aware, there is no 

relevant audit information of which Ofcom’s auditors are 

unaware, and the Accountable Officer has taken all the steps 

that he ought to have taken to make himself aware of any 

relevant audit information and to establish that Ofcom’s auditors 

are aware of that information. 

The Board 

The Board has full responsibility for deciding and operating 

Ofcom’s affairs. The details of the Board Members are set out 

on pages 94 and 95. Details of Members’ remuneration are set 

out on pages 116 to 122. 

Members’ interests 

Ofcom embraces full disclosure of Members’ interests. The 

details of these can be found online at www.ofcom.org.uk.

Post balance sheet events 

There have been no significant post balance sheet events 

between the end of the period under review and the date of 

issue of this Annual Report and Accounts. 

Foreword
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Ofcom mission and values 

Ofcom’s commitment to its mission and values is shared by 

Board Members and Ofcom colleagues. The purpose of the 

shared mission and values is to ensure each Board Member 

and colleague undertakes Ofcom’s work by reference to a clear 

set of core values which include: 

• a commitment to colleagues, including a positive working 

culture and dedication to diversity; 

• a commitment to be dynamic, responsive and commercially 

aware; and 

• a commitment to incisive thinking, rigorous evidence-based 

analysis and engagement with stakeholders. 

Colleague involvement and consultation 

The quality, commitment and effectiveness of Ofcom colleagues 

are crucial to its success. Colleague involvement is actively 

encouraged as part of all Ofcom’s day-to-day processes. 

Ofcom specifically informs and consults its colleagues through: 

• the Ofcom Colleague Forum, an information and 

consultation forum which is made up of representatives of 

colleagues from across Ofcom and which meets regularly 

with senior management at Joint Consultative Group 

meetings;

• the Ofcom intranet, which is available to all colleagues in 

all of Ofcom’s offices; 

• presentations hosted by senior managers during which 

new strategic initiatives are explained to colleagues and 

updates are provided regarding continuing projects; 

• regular inter-group meetings both to listen to colleagues 

and to disseminate information; 

• regular messages from the Chief Executive; and 

• an annual all-colleague event to review progress and the 

year ahead. 

Additionally, Ofcom signed a recognition agreement with 

BECTU and Prospect, who work together as one body – the 

Partner Union. 

Employment policies, performance development 
and public sector duties 

As a public body, Ofcom has a number of statutory duties 

placed upon it relating to social responsibility. These include 

specific duties aimed at promoting equality and diversity and 

general duties which include considering the environmental 

impact of its policies. 

Ofcom is an equal opportunities employer and recruits 

colleagues regardless of age, gender, cultural and ethnic 

background, disability, religion or belief and sexual orientation.  

Ofcom is committed to building an organisation where all 

colleagues are treated fairly, with dignity and respect and has 

developed a range of policies which are consistent with the 

requirements of employment law, and in particular with 

legislation aimed at eliminating discrimination including the 

Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2001, the Disability 

Discrimination Act 1995 and, in relation to activities in Northern 

Ireland, section 75 of the Northern Ireland Act 1998.  

During 2005/6 Ofcom continued to roll out its integrated 

diversity policy, designed to deliver equality of opportunity in all 

areas of employment, including development and promotion. All 

managers and colleagues attended a diversity workshop as part 

of a programme of diversity training designed specifically for 

Ofcom. In May 2005 Ofcom published the final version of its 

Race Equality Scheme which sets out how Ofcom as an 

employer will promote equal opportunities among different racial 

groups and how as a regulator it will ensure its policies do not 

discriminate against any racial group. In September 2005 the 

Equality Commission for Northern Ireland approved Ofcom’s 

Equality Scheme, which requires Ofcom to conduct impact 

assessments in relation to its policies and their potential impact 

on nine designated groups in Northern Ireland.
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Ofcom has also published a Welsh Language Scheme that 

clarifies which of its documents will be made available in Welsh. 

Ofcom has an internal whistle-blowing policy setting out the 

procedure colleagues should follow if they wish to raise a 

concern about malpractice within the organisation.  

Ofcom has a performance management process to ensure 

colleagues agree clear objectives for both performance and 

their ongoing development. The number of development 

activities delivered across the organisation during the period 

exceeded 400. 

Statement on health and safety policy and practice 

Ofcom now has an established health and safety committee 

which reviews health and safety policy. Policy and performance 

are reviewed annually to ensure colleagues are unharmed by 

their work. For example, during the reporting period Ofcom 

implemented postural assessment for all computer users. 

Ofcom has a dedicated Member of the Executive Committee 

(ExCo) specifically responsible for safety, and during the year 

Ofcom appointed an occupational health adviser.  

Colleagues at all levels are involved in prioritised risk 

management, and particularly high-risk activities are reviewed 

internally – for example in Field Operations, substantial 

progress has been made against the top two risks: driving and 

work on dangerous rooftops. 

Data protection 

Ofcom is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act 1998 

(‘the Act’) and is committed to processing all personal data in a 

manner which meets the requirements of the Act, including the 

data protection principles. Ensuring compliance with the data 

protection standards is not simply an issue of operating within 

the law; it is also about the effective handling of personal data 

and respecting the interests and rights of individuals. It is for 

these reasons that Ofcom has undertaken an internal 

awareness campaign to ensure all colleagues understand their 

responsibilities to comply with good information handling 

practice. Ofcom is also in the process of reviewing policies and 

processes for collecting and holding personal data, to ensure 

that it is fully compliant with the Act and that Ofcom 

communicates these policies and processes effectively with 

those whose data it holds. 

Freedom of Information 

Under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 which established a 

general right of access to all types of recorded information held 

by public authorities, Ofcom has continued via its publication 

scheme to make a wide range of information readily accessible 

on its website. Ofcom received 835 requests for information 

between 1 April 2005 and 31 March 2006 and in keeping with 

the Act’s purpose to foster a culture of openness Ofcom 

provided information requested in 87 per cent of cases.

Foreword
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Going concern 

Based on normal business planning 

and control procedures, the Board has 

a reasonable expectation that Ofcom 

has adequate resources to continue in 

operational existence for the 

foreseeable future. For this reason, the 

Board continues to adopt the going 

concern basis for preparing the financial 

statements.

David Currie 

Chairman

Stephen A Carter 

Chief Executive 

27 June 2006

Charitable donations 

Ofcom has chosen to play a positive role 

in the London locality of its headquarters. 

Within the Borough of Southwark, Ofcom 

has chosen the St Mungo’s organisation 

for the homeless as its nominated 

voluntary organisation. 

The Ofcom Board has decided that it 

would not be appropriate for executives 

to retain gifts with a value greater than 

£25; instead, organisations wishing to 

make a courtesy gift to an Ofcom 

executive (for example, a speaker’s fee) 

are requested to pay the equivalent as a 

charitable donation to St Mungo’s. 

The relationship with St Mungo’s was 

formalised in December 2003; by the end 

of the period under review Ofcom had 

passed almost £6,500 in charitable 

donations to the organisation. 

“Thanks to Ofcom's continuing 

commitment St Mungo's is able to help 

thousands of homeless men and women 

off the street and hundreds of people 

back into work every year.”

Charles Fraser 
Chief Executive 

St Mungo’s 
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Millie Banerjee CBE (age 60)

Millie Banerjee CBE is a Non-Executive 

Member of Ofcom. She is the Chair 

of Postwatch, the Chair of the 

Carnegie UK Trust and a Member 

of the Advisory Board of the Tanaka 

Imperial College Business School. 

Millie Banerjee is Chairman of the 

Remuneration Committee. 

Stephen A. Carter (age 42)

Stephen Carter is the Chief Executive 

of Ofcom. He is the organisation’s 

Accountable Offi cer and Chair of the 

Executive Committee. Previously he was 

Managing Director and Chief Executive 

at J. Walter Thompson UK Limited and 

MD and Chief Operating Offi cer of NTL 

UK & Ireland. He is a law graduate from 

Aberdeen University and completed the 

Harvard Business School’s Advanced 

Management Programme (A.M.P. 152) 

in 1997. He is the current Chairman of 

the Marketing Group of Great Britain, a 

Non-Executive Director of Travis Perkins 

PLC, a Governor of the Ashridge Business 

School, and a Vice President of UNICEF.

David Currie (age 59) 

David Currie is the Non-Executive Chairman 

of Ofcom. David has been Dean of Cass 

Business School at City University since 

January 2001. He was Professor of Economics 

at London Business School from 1988 to 

2000 and Deputy Dean from 1992 to 1995 

and again in 1999-2000. He is Chairman 

of Independent Audit and a Board member 

of the Dubai Financial Services Authority. 

He sits on the cross-benches in the House 

of Lords as Lord Currie of Marylebone. 

David Currie is a Member of the Audit and 

Remuneration Committees of Ofcom.

Stephanie Liston (age 48)

Stephanie Liston is a Non-Executive Member 

of Ofcom, appointed on 1 September 

2005. She is a Corporate Partner in Howes 

Percival, Norwich. A qualifi ed lawyer in 

the US and the UK, she is co-chairman of 

the Communications Committee of the 

International Bar Association and co-

founder and chair of Women in Telecoms 

and Technology. She has more than 15 

years of experience advising on strategic 

regulatory issues, contractual negotiations 

and commercial transactions in the UK 

and international communications and 

technology sector.

Kip Meek (age 51)

Kip Meek is an Executive Member of Ofcom 

and Chief Policy Partner. Prior to joining 

Ofcom, he was Managing Director of 

Spectrum Strategy Consulting, and one of its 

two founders. His consulting career focused 

on major decisions in the communications 

industry, particularly those that involved 

integration of the media, telecommunications 

and information sectors.

The Ofcom Board
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Phillip Graf CBE (age 59)

Philip Graf was appointed Non-Executive 

Deputy Chairman of Ofcom in November 

2005. Philip Graf joined the Liverpool Daily 

Post and Echo in 1983, which became 

Trinity International Holdings in 1985. He 

subsequently became Chief Executive in 

1993. He became Chief Executive of Trinity 

Mirror Group when the company merged 

with the Mirror Group in 1999 – a position 

he held until February 2003. He is a former 

Chairman of the Press Standards Board of 

Finance and of the Broadband Stakeholder 

Group. He is currently a partner with Praesta 

Partners LLP and a non-executive director 

of Archant Limited. He is Chairman of the 

Content Board and is a Member of the 

Remuneration and Audit Committees.

Sara Nathan (age 50)

Sara Nathan is a Non-Executive Member 

of Ofcom. She is also a member of the 

Judicial Appointments Commission and 

chairs the Animal Procedures Committee 

for the Home Offi ce. She is also on the 

Regulatory Decisions Committee, Financial 

Services Authority and a Member of ICSTIS, 

the premium rate regulator. Sara Nathan is 

a member of the Audit Committee.

Ed Richards (age 40)

Ed Richards is the Chief Operating 

Offi cer for Ofcom and the Senior Partner, 

Strategy and Market Developments. He 

was previously Senior Policy Advisor to 

the Prime Minister for media, telecoms, 

internet and e-government. He has 

been Controller of Corporate Strategy 

at the BBC and worked in consulting 

at London Economics Ltd. He is a Non-

Executive Board Member of the Donmar 

Warehouse Theatre.

Sean Williams (age 43)

Sean Williams is an Executive Member 

of Ofcom and Competition Partner, 

responsible for the development and 

enforcement of Ofcom’s economic 

regulation and competition policies in 

communications markets. He is also a Non-

Executive Director of Williams Lea Holdings 

PLC. Previously he was a partner of LEK 

Consulting, a strategy consulting fi rm, 

from 1997 to 2003, where he advised on 

competition and business strategy issues, 

and a special advisor in the Prime Minister’s 

Policy Unit from 1995 to 1997.

• Stephanie Liston joined the Board 

as a Non-Executive Member 

on 1 September 2005

• Richard Hooper CBE was Non-Executive 

Deputy Chairman of Ofcom and 

Chairman of the Content Board until 

his retirement on 31 December 2005

• Philip Graf joined the Board as 

Non-Executive Deputy Chairman of 

Ofcom and Chairman of the Content 

Board on 1 January 2006

• Sean Williams joined the Board as an 

Executive Member on 1 January 2006 

Ian Hargreaves (age 55)

Ian Hargreaves is a Non-Executive 

Member of Ofcom. Since January 2003, 

he has been Director of Corporate 

and Public Affairs at BAA plc, but has 

retained his position as Professor of 

Journalism at Cardiff University. He 

is a regular contributor to Radio 4. 

Ian Hargreaves is Chairman of the 

Radio Licensing Committee.
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The Combined Code on Corporate Governance, appended to 

the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, is a set of 

principles of good governance and a code of best practice. 

The Combined Code does not apply to Ofcom as Ofcom is an 

independent statutory corporation. However, its principles 

provide a useful benchmark for all bodies wishing to make a 

statement about their corporate governance performance. 

Ofcom has complied with the main principles of the Combined 

Code during the period 1 April 2005 until 31 March 2006; it has 

adopted the principles of the Code where it was either capable 

of doing so, or it was appropriate to do so, given its status as an 

independent statutory corporation. 

Board Members’ remuneration 

Details of Members’ remuneration are set out on pages 116 to 

122.

Board

The Ofcom Board comprises both Executive and Non-Executive 

Members. The Chairman and Non-Executive Members of the 

Ofcom Board are appointed jointly by the Secretaries of State 

for Trade and Industry and for Culture, Media and Sport for a 

period of up to five years. In this capacity the Departments have 

effectively carried out the role of a Nominations Committee for 

the Non-Executive Members of Ofcom. Executive Members to 

the Board are appointed by the Chairman and all of the 

independent Non-Executive Members. Members’ biographical 

details are set out on pages 94 and 95. 

Ofcom has adopted a unitary Board model. The Board consists 

of six Non-Executive Members including the Chairman, who is 

responsible for running the Board, and four Executive Members 

including the Chief Executive. The Board is responsible and 

accountable for the discharge of Ofcom’s statutory functions 

and provides strategic leadership and manages overall control 

of Ofcom’s activities. Members’ duties and responsibilities are 

set out in a Members’ Code of Conduct. A register of Members’ 

interests is available on the Ofcom website. 

For the purposes of compliance with the Combined Code: 

• the Board considers all of the Non-Executive Members to 

be independent of management and free of any business 

or other relationship which could materially interfere with 

the exercise of their judgement; 

• the Board believes that the Members have, between them, 

a wide range of experience which ensures an effective 

Board to lead and control Ofcom; 

• the Non-Executive Members comprise a majority of the 

Board. Millie Banerjee is regarded as being the senior Non-

Executive Member for the purposes of the Combined 

Code;

• on appointment all Members are given a full induction on 

their responsibilities and thereafter receive further 

guidance and briefings as and when required; 

• the Board meets at regular intervals during the year. The 

Board reserves certain matters to itself but otherwise 

delegates specific responsibilities to senior managers and 

committees. The role of executive management is to 

implement Board policies. The work of both the Board and 

Executive is informed by the contributions of a number of 

advisory bodies; 

• the Board is supplied in a timely manner on a regular basis 

with information in a form and of a quality appropriate to 

enable it to discharge its functions; and 

• all Members have access to the Secretary to the 

Corporation, who is responsible to the Board for ensuring 

that correct rules and procedures are followed. All 

Members have access to advice from independent 

professionals at Ofcom’s expense. 

The Board undertook an evaluation of its performance during 

February 2006. 

Corporate Governance
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In general terms, the Chairman manages the Board to ensure 

that:

• Ofcom has appropriate objectives and an effective 

strategy; 

• the Chief Executive’s team is able to implement the 

strategy; 

• there are procedures in place to inform the Board of 

performance against objectives; and 

• Ofcom is operating in accordance with the highest 

standards of corporate governance. 

As a statutory corporation, the principles and provisions of the 

Combined Code in respect of relations with shareholders are 

not directly applicable; however, Ofcom’s Annual Report is sent 

to the Department of Trade and Industry which lays copies of it 

before each House of Parliament, to which Ofcom is 

accountable.
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In the exercise of its powers under the Office of 
Communications Act 2002, the Board delegates 
certain of its responsibilities to the executives 
within Ofcom and certain responsibilities to Board 
Committees with clearly defined authority and 
terms of reference. The composition and main 
functions of these Committees are described 
below.

The Executive Committee 

The Executive Committee (‘ExCo’) was established in April 

2004 and is the senior management team responsible for 

running Ofcom. It is responsible for the management of the 

overall direction and strategy of the organisation, including the 

setting of internal organisational priorities, the management of 

Ofcom’s operational resources and activity and the review of 

major projects. ExCo meets weekly. The members of ExCo 

during the year were: 

• Stephen A Carter (Chairman) 

• Rona Chester 

• Robin Foster (resigned 31/07/05) 

• Graham Howell 

• Peter Ingram 

• Sandra Jenner (resigned 31/01/06) 

• Kip Meek 

• Dominic Morris CBE 

• Peter Phillips (appointed 13/03/06) 

• Ed Richards 

• Philip Rutnam 

• Tony Stoller CBE (retired 31/01/06) 

• Tim Suter 

• Sean Williams 

Other senior Ofcom colleagues are invited to attend meetings of 

ExCo on an ad-hoc basis.

The Content Board

The role and remit of the Content Board is set out in the report 

from the Chairman of the Content Board on pages 10 to 13. The 

Content Board meets monthly and held 12 meetings during the 

year. The Members of the Content Board during the year were: 

• Richard Hooper CBE (Chairman, resigned 31/12/05) 

• Philip Graf CBE (Chairman, appointed 01/01/06) 

• Sara Nathan (Deputy Chairman) 

• Sue Balsom 

• Floella Benjamin OBE 

• Kevin Carey 

• Jonathan Edwards CBE (resigned 28/02/06) 

• Pam Giddy 

• Rosemary Kelly (resigned 28/02/06) 

• Matthew MacIver 

• Kip Meek 

• Adam Singer 

• Tim Suter 

• Kath Worrall 

Non-Executive Members of the Content Board were appointed 

for an initial extended period of three years and two months 

until June 2006. A recruitment and re-application process for 

the appointment of Members to the Content Board concluded in 

July 2006. Kip Meek and Tim Suter are the only Executive 

Members of the Content Board. 

Board Committees
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The Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee comprises three Non-Executive Members 

of the Ofcom Board and an independent external non-executive 

Chair. The members of the Audit Committee during the year 

were:

• Anne Bulford (Chairman, resigned 30/06/05) 

• Peter Teague (Chairman, appointed 18/10/05) 

• David Currie 

• Richard Hooper CBE (resigned 31/12/05) 

• Philip Graf CBE (appointed 1/1/06) 

• Sara Nathan 

Peter Teague, the external independent Chair, is a qualified 

chartered accountant and satisfies the requirement under the 

Combined Code that one Member of the Committee has 

relevant financial experience. The additional requirements of 

the Combined Code are met to the extent that three Members 

of the Committee are independent Non-Executive Members of 

the Ofcom Board. 

The Chief Executive, Chief Operating Officer and Finance 

Director are invited to attend Committee meetings, as are the 

internal and external auditors. The Chairman of the Audit 

Committee reports the outcome of Audit Committee meetings to 

the Ofcom Board through the Chairman of Ofcom, David Currie. 

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to: 

• review and direct the internal audit function and the 

appointment of the internal auditors; 

• review the nature and scope of the external audit and the 

findings of the external auditors; 

• to monitor and review, on behalf of the Board, the 

effectiveness of the systems of internal control and risk 

management;

• to monitor and review, on behalf of the Board, the integrity, 

quality and reliability of the financial statements, Annual 

Plan and Accounts; 

• to continually review the scope and results of both internal 

and external audits; and 

• to approve the financial authority framework. 

The internal audit function is carried out independently from 

Ofcom by KPMG. The Audit Committee believes it is 

appropriate for the internal auditors, in addition, to provide 

Ofcom with specific advice on internal risks. The provision of 

other services by KPMG to Ofcom is decided on a case-by-case 

basis. The external audit function is carried out by the National 

Audit Office. 

Meetings are held not less than three times a year. The terms of 

reference are available on the Ofcom website. 

Peter Teague is paid £5,000 per annum for the provision of his 

services as Chair of the Audit Committee. However, as Peter 

was appointed during the year, he was actually paid £2,276 for 

the period. 

The Remuneration Committee 

The Remuneration Committee consists of three Non-Executive 

Members of the Ofcom Board. The members of the 

Remuneration Committee during the year were: 

• Millie Banerjee CBE (Chairman) 

• David Currie 

• Richard Hooper CBE (resigned 31/12/05) 

• Philip Graf CBE (appointed 01/01/06) 

The Chief Executive and the HR Director attend meetings at the 

invitation of the Remuneration Committee. 

The Committee advises Ofcom on the remuneration and terms 

and conditions of service for the Chief Executive, other 
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Executive Members of the Board and Members of the Executive 

Committee. The Committee also advises Ofcom on the terms 

and conditions of the Non-Executive members of the Content 

Board, the Consumer Panel, the Advisory Committee for Older 

and Disabled Persons and the four Advisory Committees for the 

Nations and Regions.  

The Committee oversees the process for determining the terms 

and conditions of all other Ofcom colleagues. The Committee 

also oversees and decides upon issues relating to the pension 

arrangements established by Ofcom for all Ofcom colleagues. 

The Remuneration Committee meets as and when required. 

During the period the Committee met seven times. The 

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee reports the outcome 

of the Remuneration Committee meetings to the Board. 

The remuneration of Non-Executive Members of the Ofcom 

Board (excluding the Chairman whose remuneration is decided 

upon by his employers, the City Business School, details of 

which are provided in the Remuneration Report) is determined 

by the Secretaries of State and is set out in detail in note 4 to 

the Remuneration Report. Should it be necessary for Ofcom to 

consider any aspect of Non-Executive Member remuneration a 

Non-Executive Member Remuneration Committee has been 

established consisting of the Chairman, Stephen A. Carter and 

other executive colleagues, which will meet and report directly 

to the Secretaries of State. Consequently, no Board Member is 

involved in the setting of his or her own remuneration. 

The Remuneration Report on pages 116 to 122 sets out 

Ofcom’s application of the relevant principles of the Combined 

Code.

Fairness and Privacy Committee and Content 
Sanctions Committee 

Both these committees are made up of members of the Content 

Board. On occasions, the Content Sanctions Committee has the 

addition of members of the Ofcom Board. 

Both Committees have a permanent Chair who, during the 

period, was Sara Nathan for the Fairness and Privacy 

Committee and Richard Hooper CBE and then Philip Graf CBE 

for the Content Sanctions Committee.

The Committees meet as and when required and details of their 

activities can be found on pages 85 and 86.

Radio Licensing Committee 

Ian Hargreaves, Non-Executive Member of the Ofcom Board, 

chairs this committee. Its membership consists of two 

permanent Non-Executive Members of the Content Board 

(Matthew MacIver and Pam Giddy) and four Ofcom colleagues. 

It meets monthly and details of its activities can be found on 

page 53.

Board Committees
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The Consumer Panel 

Section 16 of the Communications Act 2003 requires Ofcom to 

establish a Consumer Panel. 

Independent of Ofcom and operating at arm’s length from it, the 

Panel exists to advise Ofcom on consumer interests in the 

markets it regulates. During the year the Members of the 

Consumer Panel were: 

• Colette Bowe (Chairman) 

• Ruth Evans (Deputy Chairman) 

• Azeem Azhar 

• Fiona Ballantyne 

• Nainish Bapna (resigned 30/6/05) 

• Roger Darlington 

• Simon Gibson OBE 

• Graham Mather 

• Kevin McLaughlin 

• Jeremy Mitchell (appointed 2/2/06) 

• Kate O’Rourke 

• Bob Twitchin 

• Allan Williams (appointed 2/2/06) 

While Ofcom provides the Consumer Panel with operational 

support, the Panel holds its own budget and sets its own 

priorities on the basis of its statutory remit. 

Ofcom and the Consumer Panel have jointly agreed a 

Memorandum of Understanding. This memorandum establishes 

the principles that both bodies agree to adopt in their relations 

and dealings with each other and affirms the independence of 

the Panel from Ofcom. 

The Consumer Panel engaged in four major areas of work 

during the year: tracker research, consumer-focused regulation, 

digital switchover and the Strategic Review of 

Telecommunications.  

The Consumer Panel made representations to Ofcom during 

the year on the following subjects: 

• Consumer interest toolkit;

• Ofcom's Annual Plan; 

• Ofcom’s Consumer Policy Review; 

• Digital switchover; 

• Ofcom’s Strategic Review of Telecommunications;

• BT Group plc Undertakings; 

• Publication of BT financial reports;

• Impact assessment;

• Local Loop Unbundling;

• Next Generation Networks; 

• Ofcom’s duty to encourage availability of easily usable 

apparatus;

• Number Translation Services; 

• Public body use of revenue sharing services; 

• Mis-selling of fixed-line telecoms services;

• Wholesale Broadband Access;  

• Alternative Dispute Resolution schemes; and 

• Universal Service Obligations. 

The Consumer Panel published its 2005/6 Annual Report on its 

activities on 8 June 2006. The Report and further details of the 

Panel’s work can be found online at 

www.ofcomconsumerpanel.org.uk.

Non-Board Committees
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The Ofcom Spectrum Advisory Board 

The Ofcom Spectrum Advisory Board (OSAB) was established 

on 19 May 2004 to provide independent advice to Ofcom on 

strategic spectrum management issues. OSAB meets five to six 

times a year. During the year the Members of OSAB were: 

• Sir David Brown (Chairman) 

• Bob Barron (appointed 25/7/05, resigned 12/9/05) 

• Professor Martin Cave 

• Dr David Cleevely 

• Professor Leela Damodaran 

• Professor Barry Evans 

• Debbie Gillatt (appointed 12/9/05) 

• Mike Hibberd (resigned 1/2/06) 

• Stephen Lowe

• Phillipa Marks 

• Professor Mike Short 

• Andrew Sleigh 

• Stephen Speed (resigned 24/7/05) 

• Professor Will Stewart 

• Stephen Temple CBE 

• Dr Gary Tonge 

• Dr Walter Tuttlebee 

OSAB has advised Ofcom this year on a number of strategic 

spectrum issues including: 

• the role of Ofcom in promoting innovation, particularly in 

the wireless sector; 

• the content and direction of Ofcom’s research and 

development work; 

• digital divide issues and the role that spectrum might play 

in addressing them; 

• a detailed and wide-ranging assessment of Ofcom’s 

trading and liberalisation proposals and the difficulties and 

improvements that might be made in implementing them; 

and

• the type of metrics that might be useful in measuring the 

impact of Ofcom’s spectrum initiatives. 

In addition, OSAB provided substantial input and advice into the 

Cave Audit of Government spectrum holdings which was 

completed during the year. 

OSAB’s Annual Report, covering its activities during its second 

year, was published on 8 May 2006 and can be found on the 

OSAB website at www.osab.org.uk

The Advisory Committee for Older and Disabled 
Persons

Section 21(1) of the Communications Act 2003 requires Ofcom 

to establish a Committee to advise Ofcom on issues in the 

communications sector that particularly impact on older and 

disabled people. The Committee meets at least four times a 

year. During the year the Members of the Committee were: 

• Mike Whitlam CBE (Chairman) 

• Lydia Thomas (Deputy Chairman) 

• Professor Janet Askham 

• Rt Hon Lord Carter 

• Simon Cramp 

• Gareth Davies 

• Caroline Ellis 

• Baroness Greengross OBE 

• Fred Heddell 

• Jonathan Kaye 

• Suneel Shivdasani (appointed 1/1/06) 

• Ross Trotter 

• John Welsman (appointed 1/1/06)
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Throughout the period, the Committee has advised Ofcom on 

proposed Ofcom policy as it may impact older and disabled 

people: 

• the review of the Universal Service Obligation in 

telecoms;

the implications of the development of Voice over 

IP (VoIP) services; 

• Television Access Services – particularly audio description, 

signing and subtitling, and especially the preparations for 

digital switchover; 

• digital switchover and its impact on older and disabled 

consumers; and 

• Ofcom’s research function to ensure that a comprehensive 

body of evidence is developed on the communications 

interests of older and disabled people. 

The Committee has joined the Government and Digital UK’s 

Consumer Expert Group, which advises on accessible digital 

equipment and how to ensure older and disabled people 

receive appropriate and timely advice and support during the 

switchover process. 

The Advisory Committees for the Nations and 
Regions

Section 20 of the Communications Act 2003 requires Ofcom to 

establish Advisory Committees for the different Nations in the 

United Kingdom. The function of each Committee is to provide 

advice to Ofcom about the interests and opinions, in relation to 

communications matters, of people living in the part of the UK 

for which the Committee has been established. Committees 

were established for the English Regions, Northern Ireland, 

Scotland and Wales during the early part of 2004. 

Each Committee meets at least four times a year and they have 

each advised Ofcom on proposed Ofcom policy as it may 

impact on the Nations and Regions: 

• the finalisation of the review of public service broadcasting, 

in particular the importance of quality and localness in 

regional programming and the value of regional news and 

current affairs; 

• the developing 'digital divide' between the UK’s main urban 

and rural areas relating principally to access to digital 

television, affordable broadband access and mobile phone 

reception;

• the future of the Universal Service Obligations (particularly 

public call boxes), the availability of mobile phone services, 

number portability and service bundling; 

• the impact of digital switchover on each Nation and the 

English regions; 

• the television production sector review; 

• the proposals to improve media literacy;  

• the review of number translation services; and

• implications for the Nations and Regions of Ofcom’s review 

of radio. 

Non-Board Committees

•
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The membership of each Committee is as follows: 

All Members of Ofcom’s Non-Board Committees (with the exception of the Ofcom Spectrum Advisory Group) are remunerated for the 
provision of their services, based on a daily variable rate. 

English Regions 

• Suzy Brain England (Chairman) 

• Gita Conn OBE JP 

• Sue Farrington 

• John Hooper CBE 

• Derek Inman 

• Don Jayasuriya 

• Azam Mamujee (appointed 1/9/05) 

• Jessica Mann 

• Andrew Norton 

• Anne Scorer (appointed 1/9/05) 

• Alan Wright 

Scotland

• Joyce Taylor (Chairman) 

• James Hunter 

• Fiona McLeod (resigned 20/03/06) 

• Andrew Muir 

• Susan Neal 

• Thomas Prag 

• Selma Rahman 

• Julie Ramage 

• Martin Robertson

• Professor Philip Schlesinger 

Northern Ireland 

• Professor R. Wallace Ewart OBE (Chairman) 

• Sinead Boyle 

• Carol Burrows 

• Brian Collins 

• Mags Connolly 

• Dr David Elliott 

• Michael McKernan 

• Jane Morrice 

• Una Murphy 

• Dr Leslie Orr 

• Professor Gerard Parr 

• Glyn Roberts 

Wales

• Evan Jones (Chairman, resigned 31/03/06) 

• Nick Bennett 

• Ian Clarke 

• Michael Clarke 

• Professor Tony Davies (Chairman, with effect 01/04/06) 

• Dr Kevin Fitzpatrick 

• Julie James 

• Christine Hall (resigned 31/3/06) 

• Elizabeth Williams 
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Ofcom is accountable to 
Parliament and is also 
committed to transparency 
and full public disclosure 
wherever possible within the 
bounds of commercial 
confidentiality.

The following lists the 
Parliamentary and public 
appearances of the Ofcom 
Chairman, Chairman of the 
Content Board and Ofcom 
Chief Executive during the 
period under review. The lists 
below are not a complete 
summary of all Parliamentary 
and public appearances. 

David Currie 

Briefings to Parliament April 2005 – 
March 2006 

April 2005 

 House of Lords BBC Charter Review 
Select Committee 

December 2005 

 House of Lords BBC Charter Review 
Select Committee 

Various meetings with Parliamentarians 

Key public speeches April 2005 – 
March 2006 

April 2005 

 The Development Group lunch 

 Wincott Foundation lunch 

May 2005 

 Newspaper Society annual lunch 

September 2005 

 DTI i2010 Conference 

 CRI Lecture 

 DCMS Audiovisual Conference –  
chairing

October 2005 

 Chatham House/IIC Conference on 
Communications

 Communications Network annual 
dinner

Public and Parliamentary Accountability
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Richard Hooper CBE

Key public speeches April 2005 – 
March 2006 

April 2005 

 ECTA Conference – chairing 

 Telecommunications Executive 
Network – chairing 

June 2005 

 IEA Future of Broadcasting 
conference

August 2005 

 Hong Kong Broadcasting Authority 
Seminar

October 2005 

 IIC International Regulators Forum 
– chairing 

November 2005 

 Canberra Conference 

 Impact of TWF at ISPA

Stephen A Carter 

Briefings to Parliament April 2005 – 
March 2006 

April 2005 

 House of Lords BBC Charter Review 
Select Committee 

December 2005 

 House of Commons Culture, Media 
and Sport Select Committee hearing 
into Analogue Switch-off 

Various meetings with Parliamentarians 

Key public speeches April 2005– 
March 2006 

April 2005 

 RTS Dinner 

May 2005 

 FT Mobile Communications 
Conference

June 2005 

 OECD Convergence Seminar 

July 2005 

Guardian Media Lecture, Radio 
Academy Festival 

 Westminster Media Forum 
Telecoms Seminar 

September 2005 

 GMG Radio Board lunch 

November 2005 

Economist European Telecoms 
Conference

 Next Generation Regulation: 
Delivering Competition 
Communications Conference 

 VLV Autumn Conference 

 IRG/ERG Plenary 

December 2005 

 ECTA Annual Regulation 
Conference

January 2006 

 RTS dinner 

February 2006 

 CMA Conference 

March 2006  

 Smith Barney/Citigroup Conference
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Ofcom has duties under Section 7 of the Communications Act 

to carry out impact assessments for important proposals, and to 

list all assessments carried out, and decisions relating to them, 

in its Annual Report. The following tables list for 2005/6: 

• the Ofcom statements published in which the earlier 

consultation document contained an impact assessment; 

and

• other consultation documents which contained an impact 

assessment, but where no statement was published within 

the year. 

Ofcom statements published in 2005/6 in which the earlier consultation included an impact assessment 
• Protecting citizens and consumers from mis-selling of fixed-line telecommunications services: Notification of Modification to a

General Condition – Introduction of mandatory Codes of Practice for sales and marketing in fixed-line telecoms services 

• Final decision review of the broadcasting transmission services market 

• The final strategy on the management and administration of the new Community Radio Fund  

• The Wireless Telegraphy (Licence Charges) Regulations 2005  

• The Ofcom Broadcasting Code 

• Statement on Planning Options for Digital Switchover 

• PSB review – Phase 3 – Competition for quality Statement on Programming for the Nations and Regions 

• Review of ITV Networking Arrangements  

• Ofcom’s decision to exempt the use of automotive short-range equipment in the 24 GHz band from Wireless Telegraphy 
licensing : Statement 

• Implementation of geographic number conservation measures – A statement issued by the Office of Communications 

• An assessment of alternative solutions for UK number portability – Policy statement 

• Spectrum Framework Review Statement 

• Notification of approval of an emergency code amendment to the ICSTIS Code of Practice 

• Valuing BT's copper access network 

• Ofcom’s approach to risk in the assessment of the cost of capital

• Explanatory Statement on BT’s SMP status and charge controls in narrowband wholesale markets 

• Per-provider and per-customer line costs and charges for Carrier Pre-selection 

• Charges between Communications Providers: Number Translation Services Retail Uplift charge control and Premium Rate 
Services bad debt surcharge 

• A statement on proposals for applying RSA to Radio Astronomy 

• Ofcom's decision to exempt the use of radio frequency identification equipment in the 865-868 MHz band from Wireless 
Telegraphy licensing 

• Award of available spectrum: 1781.7-1785 MHz paired with 1876.7-1880 MHz 

• Local loop unbundling: setting the fully unbundled rental charge ceiling and minor amendment to SMP conditions FA6 and FB6 

• Ships' Radio Licensing 

• Statement and notification extending the charge controls  

• Radio – Licensing Policy for VHF Band III, Sub-band 3 

• Wholesale Line Rental: Reviewing and setting charge ceilings for WLR services 

• Amateur radio licensing

• Statement on the making of regulations in connection with the award of 1781.7-1785 MHz paired with 1876.7-1880 MHz 

• Radio – Preparing for the Future (Phase 2) 

• Statement of policy on the persistent misuse of an electronic communications network or electronic communications service 

• National Single Non-Emergency Number Designating number “101” 

• Review of the Universal Service Obligation

• Wholesale Mobile Voice Call Termination charge controls – request for consent 

• Number portability and technology neutrality: Modification to the Number Portability General Condition and the National 
Telephone Numbering Plan 

Impact Assessments Undertaken
1 April 2005 – 31 March 2006
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Ofcom consultations published in 2005/6, which included an impact assessment and where no 
statement has yet been published 
• Notice of Ofcom’s proposal to make regulations to inspect and restrict the use of certain Wireless Telegraphy licence- 

exempt apparatus 

• Regulation of business retail markets 

• Number Translation Services: A way forward 

• Providing citizens and consumers with improved information about Number Translation Services and Premium Rate 
Services

• Award of available spectrum: 412-414 MHz paired with 422-424 MHz 

• Pay TV channels on multiplexes B, C and D 

• Proposed guidance as to how Ofcom may interpret the meaning of “fair, reasonable and non-discriminatory” and other 
regulatory conditions when assessing charges and terms offered by regulated providers of Technical Platform Services 

• Conditions regulating Premium Rate Services 

• Review of the Ofcom Metering and Billing Approval Scheme 

• Review of the cross-promotion rules 

• Award of Available Spectrum – 1785-1805 MHz 

• Product Placement – A consultation on issues related to product placement 

• The Future Licensing of DAB digital radio 

• Television production sector: a review 

• Channel Sponsorship – A consultation on the sponsorship of television channels and radio stations 

• Migrations, switching and mis-selling 

• Regulation of VoIP Services 

• Telephone Numbering: Safeguarding the future of numbers 

• Retail Price Controls: Explanatory Statement and Proposals 

• Television access services review 

• Television advertising of food and drink products to children – Options for new restrictions 

• Mobile Call Termination Market Review 

• Award of available spectrum: 1452-1492 MHz 
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The Board’s responsibilities 

Under the terms of the Office of Communications Act 2002, the 

Board is required to prepare a Statement of Accounts for each 

financial year. This conforms with the Accounts Direction issued 

by the Secretaries of State for Trade and Industry and for 

Culture, Media and Sport. The Board is also responsible for 

sending a copy of the Statement of Accounts to the Comptroller 

and Auditor General. 

This Statement of Accounts is prepared, in so far as applicable, 

in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and the United 

Kingdom accounting standards. The Statement of Accounts is 

prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair 

view of the state of affairs of Ofcom as at the end of the 

financial year and of its income and expenditure, recognised 

gains and losses and cash flows for the financial year. 

The Board confirms that in preparing this Statement of 

Accounts it has observed the relevant accounting and 

disclosure requirements, applied suitable accounting policies on 

a consistent basis, made judgements and estimates on a 

reasonable basis, followed applicable accounting standards and 

prepared the statement of accounts on a going-concern basis. 

The Board is responsible for ensuring that proper records are 

maintained which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 

the financial position of Ofcom and enable it to ensure that the 

Statement of Accounts complies with the Companies Act 1985. 

In addition, the Board is responsible for safeguarding Ofcom’s 

assets and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 

and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

Chief Executive’s responsibilities 

The Chief Executive is appointed by the Board who delegate to 

him responsibility for the day-to-day management of Ofcom. 

The Secretaries of State for Trade and Industry and for Culture, 

Media and Sport have designated the Chief Executive as 

Ofcom’s Accountable Officer. He is not formally appointed as 

the Accounting Officer in Government terms, however the 

appointment carries with it duties of responsibility in respect of 

regularity, propriety, value for money and good financial 

management and the safeguarding of public funds. 

The Chief Executive has specific responsibilities for ensuring 

compliance with the terms of the Financial Memorandum issued 

by the Secretaries of State. He must also ensure proper 

accounting records are maintained and must sign the accounts. 

As a Member of the Board, the Chief Executive has to ensure 

that his accountability responsibilities do not conflict with those 

as a Board Member. The Chief Executive may also be called 

upon by the Committee of Public Accounts and other 

Parliamentary committees to give evidence on the discharge of 

his duties. 

Statement of Responsibilities
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Scope of responsibility 

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a 

sound system of internal control that supports the achievement 

of Ofcom’s policies, aims and objectives, while safeguarding the 

public funds and Ofcom’s assets for which I am personally 

responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to 

me in Government Accounting and in the Ofcom Financial 

Memorandum issued to me by the Secretaries of State for 

Trade and Industry and for Culture, Media and Sport. 

I am required to advise the Board if any action would infringe 

upon the requirements of propriety or regularity or upon my 

wider responsibilities for value for money. 

The purpose of the system of internal control 

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a 

reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to 

achieve policies, aims and objectives. It can therefore only 

provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 

effectiveness.

Ofcom’s system of internal control is based on an ongoing 

process designed to: 

• identify and prioritise risks to the achievement of Ofcom’s 

policies, aims and objectives; 

• evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and 

their impact should they be realised;

• manage those risks efficiently, effectively and 

economically; and 

• integrate risk management into Ofcom’s wider set of 

management processes. 

The system of internal control based on the above objectives 

has been in place in Ofcom for the year ended 31 March 2006 

and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and 

Accounts and accords with Treasury guidance. 

Capacity to handle risk 

Ofcom has developed an effective risk management strategy 

around four key principles: 

• clear ownership of roles and responsibilities; 

• establishment of corporate systems to identify, report and 

evaluate risks and their potential impact; 

• ensuring colleagues have the appropriate skills to identify 

and assess the potential for risks to arise in the delivery of 

Ofcom’s remit; and 

• the creation of a culture which supports well-managed risk-

taking where to do so is likely to lead to sustainable 

improvements in service delivery. 

Ofcom recognises, however, that organisational risk tolerance 

will vary dependent on the circumstances. Ofcom remains 

highly risk averse in certain areas of its core operational 

activities but will tolerate, or even encourage, greater risk-taking 

in other, more policy-focused areas in order to achieve 

beneficial changes for citizens and consumers. This acceptance 

of a higher level of risk does not, of course, override the need 

for a full evaluation of such risk before such activities are 

undertaken.

Ofcom has therefore developed appropriate processes for the 

systematic identification, evaluation and control of risk and has 

further enhanced these in 2005/6. 

The risk and control framework 

Under Ofcom’s risk management arrangements the Executive 

Committee has a key role in managing Ofcom’s risk profile and 

considering the main risks which might prevent achievement of 

its policies, aims and objectives. The Committee meets weekly 

and is the most senior internal management committee of 

Ofcom.

Statement on Internal Control
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All members of the Executive Committee are committed to 

undertake regular reviews of the major areas of risk for which 

they are responsible and to work with their teams to ensure that 

all Ofcom colleagues are able to identify and highlight risks 

attached to their areas of activity and to take appropriate action 

to manage such identified risks.

This identification process is intended to establish the priority 

policy and operational risks which could affect Ofcom’s ability to 

deliver its Annual Plan objectives. Actions to address priority 

risks are reviewed by the Executive Committee on a monthly 

basis and, on a quarterly basis, the list of priority risks is 

reviewed to assess its continuing relevance with risks added or 

removed as appropriate. 

In addition, individual risk registers have been maintained, in an 

appropriate form, for each functional area within the 

organisation. Members of the Executive Committee are 

responsible for managing the risks in their areas. They must do 

so in a manner in keeping with Ofcom’s overall tolerance of risk.  

As part of the annual planning process carried out in relation to 

2006/7, all projects have been assigned a risk ranking to help 

prioritise Ofcom’s forthcoming work. Papers to the Board or 

other Ofcom committees highlight risks associated with specific 

projects so that such risks can be taken into consideration when 

decisions are made. All project managers are required to 

identify risks attached to their projects and to put in place 

measures to manage such identified risks.

The Directorate of Planning and Development (DPD), reporting 

to the Chief Operating Officer, is responsible for the overall co-

ordination of the risk identification and assessment process and 

works with the Executive Committee and the project teams on 

risk identification and management.

Ofcom’s profile of prioritised risks is reviewed annually following 

the business planning cycle. 

Actions identified, implemented and embedded into Ofcom 

include: 

• a weekly report by the Communications Director and 

Director of the Chief Executive’s office of current concerns 

in terms of stakeholder relations; 

• a monthly Management Information report circulated to all 

members of the Executive Committee which incorporates: 

• the register of priority risks updated by the Executive 

Committee risk owners. Each month this is reviewed 

by the Executive Committee to help monitor risks at a 

corporate level; and 

• exception-based reporting of other high and medium 

level risk status projects across the organisation, 

litigation risks, financial and other operational risks. 

• an annual risk review undertaken with external consultancy 

input to analyse the adequacy of the risk identification and 

monitoring process, based on the Government’s Risk 

Management Assessment Framework; 

• a review at each meeting of the Audit Committee of 

Ofcom’s operational and policy risks, in particular litigation 

risks and security. The Committee annually reviews 

Ofcom’s financial statements and committee members 

regularly receive  Ofcom’s monthly management 

information pack; 

• an annual review and discussion of internal controls by the 

Board with the Chairman of the Audit Committee; 

• the carrying out of impact assessments (as required by the 

Communications Act 2003) designed to identify, inter alia,

the risks attached to proposed policies to be introduced by 

Ofcom;

• setting up a project management system for policy projects 

incorporating a risk management recording facility to 

provide a common basis for capturing risk and recording 

risk management;



114 |Ofcom Annual Report 2005/6  www.ofcom.org.uk  

• the establishment of project management governance 

arrangements which require project managers to identify, 

report on and manage project-level risks; 

• development of a risk management policy document to 

provide guidance to Ofcom colleagues on Ofcom’s 

approach, the role of colleagues and the wider risk 

management context within Ofcom;

• enhancement of capacity to handle risk by training policy 

project managers and directors in the use of a new project 

management system to record, on a monthly basis, overall 

risk status on projects and actions taken to mitigate risks;

• appropriate risk awareness and management within project 

teams has also been enhanced by the continuing focus of 

management review boards on what could prevent delivery 

of planned outputs or achievement of policy outcomes;

• development of treasury management policy and 

procedures aligned with the risk management policy;  

• appropriate controls on the delegated authorities from the 

Board to colleagues both to agree policy decisions and to 

commit to expenditure; 

• an internal audit plan agreed annually between the Audit 

Committee and the internal auditors; 

• regular reviews by the internal auditors of the 

appropriateness of Ofcom’s system of internal controls 

together with recommendations for improvement; 

• the maintenance of a ‘whistle-blowing’ or ‘protected 

disclosure’ policy to enable Ofcom colleagues to 

communicate concerns to an independent member of the 

Executive Committee; and 

• the operation of a security policy dealing with all aspects of 

security including personal, document and IT. 

Review of effectiveness 

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the 

effectiveness of the system of internal control. 

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control 

is informed by the work of the internal auditors and the 

executive managers within Ofcom who have responsibility for 

the development and maintenance of the internal control 

framework and comments made by the external auditors in their 

management letter and other reports. 

The process that has been applied in maintaining and reviewing 

the effectiveness of the system of internal control is as follows: 

The Board 

The Board has overall responsibility for monitoring the 

effectiveness of Ofcom’s system of internal controls and

receives regular reports from the Audit Committee. 

The Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee plays an important role in managing risk 

within Ofcom. It is constituted in line with Treasury guidance, 

with Non-Executive Members of the Ofcom Board on the 

Committee and an independent Non-Executive in the Chair with 

direct access to the Chairman of Ofcom. The Audit Committee 

reviews the effectiveness of the risk management process. It 

meets not less than three times each year. 

I am not a member of the Committee but attend most of its 

meetings, as do our internal auditors and our external auditors, 

the National Audit Office. The Committee’s terms of reference 

incorporate a right of access to the Chair for both the internal 

and external auditors. 

Internal Audit 

The internal audit function, which was outsourced to KPMG in 

November 2003, carries out its work in accordance with the 

Internal Audit plan that is approved by the Audit Committee and 

which is designed to allow internal audit to make a statement on 

Statement on Internal Control
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the adequacy and effectiveness of Ofcom’s risk management, 

governance and control processes for the year. 

The Audit Committee receives regular reports from internal 

audit; these reports concluded in the year under review that, 

based on the work undertaken, Ofcom has a satisfactory 

system of risk management, governance and control.

Other assurance mechanisms 

A number of financial control processes have been maintained. 

The Finance department produces monthly management 

accounts which are reviewed by budget holders, the Executive 

Committee and Board on a monthly basis to identify departures 

from the original budget.

Ofcom re-forecasts its expenditure and outputs (primarily 

planned consultation documents and policy statements) on a 

quarterly basis to take into account changes in the work 

required to meet its strategic objectives and ensure that it 

operates within the financial targets of the Annual Plan.

The Annual Plan is prepared following consultation with 

stakeholders and a rigorous internal approach involving project 

managers, the Executive Committee and final approval by the 

Board.

Capital expenditure projects are approved on an individual 

basis through presentation of a business justification, risk 

assessment and discounted cash flow forecast to the 

Operations Board, and where they meet certain expenditure 

thresholds, the Executive Committee and the Board.

Ofcom’s major IS renewal programme started in 2005/6, is 

subject to review at a number of levels, including an 

independent assurance check provided by an external 

consultant with regards to the scoping, governance and 

implementation of the programme. Risks identified by this 

review are being managed through the project management 

office and steering committee. 

Executive Committee members now provide to the Accountable 

Officer a signed annual assurance statement in relation to their 

operation of internal controls for the major areas of risk they are 

responsible for. 

I have been advised on the implications of the result of my 

review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control by 

the Board and the Audit Committee and a plan to address 

weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system 

is in place. It is my belief that there are satisfactory processes in 

place for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant 

risks faced by Ofcom. 

Stephen A Carter 

Chief Executive 

27 June 2006 



116 |Ofcom Annual Report 2005/6  www.ofcom.org.uk  

The Board presents its Remuneration Report. In 
preparing this Report and establishing its policy 
the Board has given consideration to, and follows 
the provisions of, the Combined Code, where 
appropriate and applicable. 

Ofcom is not required to comply with the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 
but has prepared this report to be compliant so far 
as is practicable and appropriate. 

Constitution of the Remuneration Committee 

The constitution of the Remuneration Committee is set out on 

page 99. 

Advisers

The Remuneration Committee takes advice and/or obtains 

services from the following external entities, all of whom were 

appointed by the Committee: 

• Towers Perrin, on executive remuneration; and 

• Eversheds LLP, on employment contracts and associated 

legal issues. 

Towers Perrin also provides advice and services to Ofcom in 

respect of pensions, pension trustee and administration support 

and other organisational issues. 

The Committee also takes advice from Ofcom’s HR Director. 

The Chief Executive is normally invited by the Remuneration 

Committee to attend meetings of the Committee. 

No individual is present for any discussion about his or her own 

remuneration.

General policy 

In setting Ofcom’s remuneration policy the Remuneration 

Committee believes that Ofcom should, within the constraints of 

a public corporation, provide rewards which will attract and 

retain the high-calibre management necessary to enable Ofcom 

to fulfil its statutory remit and responsibilities. The overall policy 

approach is not expected to change in the coming year. 

It is Ofcom policy that no Executive Member of the Ofcom 

Board or any other Ofcom colleague should have a fixed-term 

service contract or notice period exceeding one year. All current 

service agreements comply with this policy. 

Components of remuneration 

The main components of the Executive Members’ remuneration 

are:

Salary and flexible benefits 

The basic salary for each Executive Member or senior manager 

is determined by taking into account each colleague’s 

responsibilities, performance and experience together with 

market trends. In addition, a flexible benefits allowance is made 

available to each Executive Member or senior manager (with 

the exception of Philip Rutnam as set out below). 

Benefits in kind 

Each Executive Member or senior manager receives certain 

standard benefits which are detailed later in this section (with 

the exception of Philip Rutnam as set out below). 

Annual bonus 

Each Executive Member or senior manager participates in a 

bonus scheme which is calculated as a percentage of salary 

based on the individual’s performance up to a maximum of 20-

25 per cent of salary depending upon the individual concerned. 

No element of bonus is pensionable.

Remuneration Report
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Pension arrangements 

Executive management 

Each Executive Member or senior manager (with the exception 

of Tony Stoller CBE who retired on 31 January 2006 and Philip 

Rutnam as set out below) is provided with an allowance, 

determined as a percentage of base salary, which the individual 

can take as extra salary or invest in a pension scheme of their 

choice. 

Tony Stoller CBE participated in the Ofcom Defined Benefit 

Pension Plan on comparable terms as applied when previously 

Chief Executive of the Radio Authority until his retirement from 

Ofcom on 31 January 2006. This provided salary-related 

pension benefits on a defined benefit basis, with an accrual rate 

of 1/60th of final salary per year of service, subject to the Inland 

Revenue Earnings Cap where appropriate. Tony Stoller CBE 

received additional benefits through the Plan in recognition of 

his earnings in excess of the cap. No benefit is provided 

through unapproved arrangements. 

Philip Rutnam is not employed directly by Ofcom; he is on 

secondment from HM Treasury. Ofcom reimburses on an 

annual basis to HM Treasury the remuneration paid to Philip 

Rutnam by HM Treasury which includes the charge levied by 

HM Treasury for his participation in the Principal Civil Service 

Pension Scheme (of which Philip Rutnam is a member) on 

behalf of Philip Rutnam. 

Non-Executive Members 

The pension costs of David Currie are met by Ofcom as set out 

in the notes below. As Chair of the Radio Authority, Richard 

Hooper CBE was provided with a pension by analogy to the ITC 

Staff Pension Plan (now the Ofcom (former ITC) Pension Plan) 

until his retirement from Ofcom on 31 December 2005. This 

provided salary-related benefits on a defined benefit basis with 

an accrual rate of 1/60th of final salary for each year of service 

subject to the Inland Revenue earnings cap where appropriate. 

The other Non-Executive Members do not receive a pension 

benefit from Ofcom. 

Details of remuneration for the Board, the Content Board and 

the Executive Committee are set out on pages 118 to 119. The 

numbered points against the names of individuals refer to the 

numbered points set out on pages 119 to 121. 

Guidance to the remuneration schedules 

These schedules refer to remuneration during the financial 

year. The schedule reflects remuneration for that part of the 

year during which individuals were either providing services 

to, or employed by, Ofcom. The numbered points against the 

names of individuals refer to the numbered points set on 

pages 119 to 121.
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Ofcom Board Remuneration 2005/6 

Ofcom Content Board Remuneration 2005/6 

Name Role Total
remuneration 

Pension
entitlement/

allowance

Flexible
benefits

allowance

Standard 
benefits

Bonus Salary

£ £ £ £ £ £

Millie Banerjee CBE Non-Executive Member (3-4) 45,719 513 45,206

Stephen Carter Chief Executive (7-10) 440,667 71,250 19,818 7,599 57,000 285,000

David Currie Chairman (1-4) 193,737 27,724 987 165,026

Philip Graf CBE Deputy Chairman (3-4) 25,129 25,129

Ian Hargreaves  Non-Executive Member (3-4) 45,586 380 45,206

Richard Hooper CBE Deputy Chairman (3-4 & 12) 60,869 560 60,309

Stephanie Liston Non-Executive Member (3-4) 23,454 23,454

Kip Meek Chief Policy Partner (7-10) 338,579 44,500 19,782 6,697 45,100 222,500

Sara Nathan Non-Executive Member (3-4) 56,937 537 56,400

Ed Richards Chief Operating Officer (7-10) 308,930 33,725 19,953 6,752 35,500 213,000

Sean Williams Partner, Competition (7-10) 251,186 25,050 20,723 5,013 33,400 167,000

Total 1,790,793 202,249 80,276 29,038 171,000 1,308,230

Name Role Total
remuneration 

Pension
entitlement/

allowance

Flexible
benefits

allowance

Standard 
benefits

Bonus Salary

£ £ £ £ £ £

Sue Balsom Content Board Member (3-4) 20,616 56 20,560

Floella Benjamin Content Board Member (3-4) 20,951 391 20,560

Kevin Carey Content Board Member (3-4) 20,691 131 20,560

Jonathan Edwards Content Board Member (3-4) 19,200 353 18,847

Pam Giddy Content Board Member (3-4) 20,970 410 20,560

Rosemary Kelly Content Board Member (3-4) 18,847 18,847

Matthew MacIver Content Board Member (3-4) 20,911 351 20,560

Adam Singer Content Board Member (3-4) 21,119 559 20,560

Kath Worrall Content Board Member (3-4) 20,885 325 20,560

Tim Suter Partner, Content & 
Standards (7-10) 243,387 24,225 21,435 3,927 32,300 161,500

Total 427,577 24,225 21,435 6,503 32,300 343,114

Remuneration Report
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Ofcom Executive Committee Remuneration 2005/6 

Notes to the remuneration tables 

1. The remuneration of the Chairman is set by the City 

University by whom the Chairman is employed directly, in 

agreement with the DTI and DCMS. Ofcom reimburses the 

City University for two-thirds of the Chairman’s 

remuneration through a secondment agreement. The figure 

for the Chairman’s remuneration is the current reimbursed 

amount by Ofcom to the City University for his services. 

The City University reviews the remuneration paid to the 

Chairman in August each year. In addition, Ofcom 

reimburses the City University for four-fifths of the 

Employer’s National Insurance costs incurred for the 

Chairman for each year of secondment. 

2. The Chairman is a member of the Universities 

Superannuation Scheme (‘the scheme’); Ofcom contributes 

(by way of reimbursement to the City University) on an 

annual basis four-fifths of the contributions made by the 

City University to the scheme for the Chairman.

 During the financial year an additional £26,793 was 

reimbursed to City University in respect of an undercharge 

of pension contributions for the years 2002/3 and 2003/4. 

3. The Non-Executive Members of the Ofcom Board and the 

Content Board Members receive no additional 

remuneration from Ofcom other than the entitlement to the 

provision of certain standard benefits, which are a digital 

package for domestic and business use and, for the Non-

Executive Members of the Ofcom Board only, the provision 

of IT equipment for home working. Not all Non-Executive 

Name Role Total
remuneration 

Pension
entitlement/

allowance

Flexible
benefits

allowance

Standard 
benefits

Bonus Salary

£ £ £ £ £ £

Rona Chester Finance Director (7-10) 177,639 17,625 15,000 4,014 23,500 117,500

Robin Foster Partner, Strategy and 
Market Developments 

(7-11)

88,487 11,667 6,993 1,910 67,917

Graham Howell Secretary to the 
Corporation

(7-10)

182,668 19,500 15,000 5,168 13,000 130,000

Peter Ingram Chief Technology Officer (7-10) 238,540 30,000 25,000 5,540 28,000 150,000

Sandra Jenner HR Director (7-11) 210,191 22,067 17,031 3,476 29,700 137,917

Dominic Morris CBE Director of the 
CEO’s Office 

(7-11 & 14) 

221,692 25,766 18,329 3,927 26,500 147,170

Peter Phillips Partner, Strategy and 
Market Developments 

(7-11)

12,764 1,514 1,154 10,096

Philip Rutnam Partner, Competition 
and Strategic Resources 

(6)

210,811 36,777 29,200 144,834

Tony Stoller CBE External Relations 
Director

(7-10 & 13) 

182,595 21,472 14,811 3,562 13,000 129,750

Total 1,525,387 186,388 113,318 27,597 162,900 1,035,184
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Members of the Ofcom Board or Content Board Members 

took up the entitlement during the period under review. 

4. The fees for all the Non-Executive Members (with the 

exception of the Chairman) are fixed in agreement with the 

DTI and DCMS for the duration of their appointment. The 

fees for the Content Board are fixed by the Ofcom Board. 

The fees shown represent a full year for the Non-Executive 

Members of the Ofcom Board and the Content Board 

Members, with the exception of Stephanie Liston and Philip 

Graf, who joined the Ofcom Board, respectively, on 1 

September 2005 and 1 January 2006 and Richard Hooper 

CBE who retired from the Ofcom Board on 31 December 

2005.

 With the exception of the Chairman and the Deputy 

Chairman, increases in the basic fees for the Non-

Executive Members were agreed during the year with the 

DTI and the DCMS, so that the basic fee of the Non-

Executive Members (with the exception of the Chairman, 

the Deputy Chairman and Sara Nathan) was £40,206 per 

annum each with effect from 1 April 2005. Sara Nathan’s 

basic fee was increased with effect from 1 April 2005 to 

£51,400 per annum to reflect her extra time commitment to 

Ofcom as a result of her Content Board duties. These fee 

levels, together with the fee levels for the Deputy Chairman 

and the Content Board members, are linked to the 

recommendations of the Senior Salaries Review Body for 

senior civil service pay. As a consequence of such linkage, 

the basic fees for all the Non-Executive Members (with the 

exception of the Chairman) and the members of the 

Content Board were given increases of 2.0 per cent from 1 

April 2006. An additional fee of £5,000 per annum is paid 

to any Non-Executive Member (with the exception of the 

Chairman) who chairs a Board Committee. 

5. Jonathan Edwards and Rosemary Kelly resigned from the 

Content Board on 28 February 2006. 

6. Philip Rutnam is on secondment to Ofcom from HM 

Treasury and his remuneration costs represent the amount 

reimbursed by Ofcom for his services during the period 

under review. 

7. Annual remuneration for the Ofcom executives (Executive 

Members of the Ofcom Board, Executive Members of the 

Content Board and senior managers on the Executive 

Committee) includes base salary together with a cash 

allowance for flexible benefits (with the exception of Philip 

Rutnam) and a percentage pension provision (with the 

exception of Tony Stoller CBE). 

 Sean Williams joined the Ofcom Board as an Executive 

Member as of 1 January 2006. The table shows his salary 

for a full year as he was employed by Ofcom during the 

whole period. 

 Ed Richards attended the Advanced Management 

Programme at Harvard for 10 weeks during the year. 

Consequently his bonus was pro-rated to reflect the period 

he was actually working at Ofcom. 

8. Base salary for all senior executives is reviewed annually 

on 1 April. 

9. Each Ofcom Executive Member of the Ofcom Board or 

senior manager (with the exception of Philip Rutnam) 

receives certain standard benefits which include base-level 

life assurance, private medical insurance and the provision 

of a digital package.

10. All Ofcom colleagues participate in a bonus scheme, 

payment of which is based on individual performance. All 

payments are approved by the Ofcom Remuneration 

Committee and are calculated as a percentage of base 

salary ranging from 0-25 per cent. 

11. Robin Foster resigned from Ofcom on 31 July 2005. 

Sandra Jenner resigned from Ofcom on 31 January 2006. 

Peter Phillips joined Ofcom on 13 March 2006. Dominic 

Morris joined the Executive Committee with effect from 1 

April 2005. 

Remuneration Report
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12. Richard Hooper CBE retired on 31 December 2005. He is 

entitled to pensions benefits provided by analogy to the 

ITC Staff Pension Plan (now the Ofcom (former ITC) 

Pension Plan). A separate disclosure in relation to this plan 

has been made in the table below. 

13. Tony Stoller CBE retired on 31 January 2006. He is a 

member of the Ofcom Defined Benefit Pension Plan. A 

separate disclosure in relation to this plan has been made 

in the table below. 

14. Dominic Morris  was appointed to the Executive Committee 

on 1 April 2005. He is a member of the Defined Benefit 

Pension Plan. A separate disclosure in relation to this plan 

has been made in the table below. 

Executive disclosure for Defined Benefit pensions 

The disclosures for defined benefit pensions for Richard Hooper 

CBE, Tony Stoller CBE and Dominic Morris CBE are shown in 

the table below. 

Both Richard Hooper CBE and Tony Stoller CBE retired during 

the accounting period. The figures shown in the table as at 31 

March 2006 are calculated at their respective dates of 31 

December 2005 and 31 January 2006. Dominic Morris CBE 

was appointed to the Executive Committee during the 

accounting period. The figures shown in the table relate to the 

whole of the accounting period. 

The accrued pensions and transfer values for Tony Stoller CBE 

and Dominic Morris CBE reflect the additional pension arising 

from a transfer-in of his benefits from his previous employer. 

Prior to his retirement, Tony Stoller CBE elected to transfer the 

benefits he had built up during his previous employment into the 

Ofcom Defined Benefit Pension Plan. As a consequence, these 

benefits were linked to his Ofcom remuneration. The transfer 

value shown in the table as at 31 March 2005 has been 

restated to reflect this decision. 

The transfer value of accrued pension represents the estimated 

cost to the pension scheme of providing the pension benefit 

accrued to date (calculated in accordance with Actuarial 

Guidance Note GN11). The value is affected by a number of 

factors, which include age of individual, pensionable salary and 

investment market conditions at the date of calculation. 

Service agreements 

No Executive Member of the Ofcom Board or other Ofcom 

colleague has a service agreement containing a notice period 

exceeding one year. The Chief Executive has a notice period of 

up to 12 months; the other Executive Members of the Ofcom 

Board and members of senior management have notice periods 

not exceeding nine months. The Remuneration Committee has 

considered the notice period and termination arrangements in 

the light of the Combined Code and believes them to be 

appropriate.

The Non-Executive Members are all on fixed-term appointments 

for a set time commitment to Ofcom of up to two days per week 

(with the exception of David Currie, Philip Graf and Sara Nathan 

who currently commit up to four, three and two and a half days 

per week respectively). 

Compensation from early termination 

The arrangements for early termination of a service contract for 

an Executive Member of the Ofcom Board or senior manager 

are decided by the Remuneration Committee and will be made 

in accordance with the service contract of the relevant 

Executive Director or senior manager. Each service contract 

provides for a payment in lieu of notice on early termination at 

Ofcom’s discretion. 

If payments for termination are dealt with in accordance with the 

above provisions, the restrictive covenants contained in each 

Executive Member’s or senior manager’s contract in favour of 

Ofcom will still apply. 

 CBE
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Non-Executive Members have no entitlement to compensation 

in the event of early termination. 

All Non-Executive Members have restrictions against working 

for a regulated business for up to six months prior to the 

termination or expiry of the appointment (a period of exclusion 

or ‘gardening leave’) and six months after termination (a 

protective covenant). These restrictions reflect those which also 

apply to the Executive Members of the Ofcom Board and are 

designed to protect the independence of Ofcom and the 

professional integrity of each Non-Executive Member. 

Outside directorships 

No Executive Member of the Ofcom Board may accept a non-

executive appointment without the prior approval of the Board to 

ensure that these do not give rise to conflicts of interest.

All appointments accepted by the Non-Executive Members of 

the Ofcom Board must be notified to the Board to ensure that 

no conflict of interest arises; if such conflict is deemed to arise 

then the Non-Executive Member will be required to resign from 

the Member position in question. 

On behalf of Ofcom, 

Millie Banerjee CBE 

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 

27 June 2006

Disclosures for Defined Benefit pensions

Name Accrued pension 
at 31 March 

2006

Increase in 
accrued pension 

over year 

Transfer value of 
accrued pension 

at 31 March 2006 

Transfer value of 
accrued pension at 

31 March 2005 

Increase in transfer 
value less member’s 

contributions

£ £ £ £ £

Richard Hooper CBE 
     (3-4 & 12) 

7,700 1,200 139,000 102,000 33,000

Tony Stoller CBE   (13) 47,500 4,000 1,028,000 720,000 300,000

Dominic Morris CBE (14) 17,500 3,500 223,000 167,000 45,000

Remuneration Report
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I certify that I have audited the financial statements of the Office 

of Communications for the year ended 31 March 2006 under 

the Office of Communications Act 2002. These comprise the 

Income and Expenditure Account, the Statement of Total 

Recognised Gains and Losses, the Balance Sheet, the Cash 

Flow Statement and the related notes and the tables of 

emoluments and entitlements and related Notes in the 

Remuneration Report. These financial statements have been 

prepared under the accounting policies set out within them. 

Respective responsibilities of the Board, the Chief 
Executive and Auditor 

The Board and Chief Executive are responsible for the 

preparation of the Annual Report, Remuneration Report and the 

financial statements in accordance with the Office of 

Communications Act 2002 and the Secretaries of State for 

Trade and Industry and for Culture, Media and Sport directions 

made thereunder and for ensuring the regularity of financial 

transactions. These responsibilities are set out in the Statement 

of Responsibilities.

My responsibility is to audit the financial statements in 

accordance with the relevant legal and regularity requirements 

and with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 

I report to you my opinion as to whether the financial statements 

give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements 

and part of the Remuneration Report to be audited have been 

properly prepared in accordance with the Office of 

Communications Act 2002 and the Secretaries of State for 

Trade and Industry and for Culture, Media and Sport directions 

made thereunder. I also report whether, in all material respects, 

the expenditure and income have been applied to the purposes 

intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform 

to the authorities which govern them. I also report to you if, in 

my opinion, the Annual Report is not consistent with the 

financial statements, if the Office of Communications has not 

kept proper accounting records, if I have not received all the 

information and explanations I require for my audit, or if the 

information specified by relevant authorities regarding 

remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed. 

I review whether the statement on pages 112 to 115 reflects the 

Office of Communication’s compliance with HM Treasury's 

guidance on the Statement on Internal Control, and I report if it 

does not. I am not required to consider whether the 

Accountable Officer’s statements on internal control cover all 

risks and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Office of Communication’s corporate governance procedures or 

its risk and control procedures.

I read the other information contained in the Annual Report and 

consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial 

statements. This other information comprises only the 

Introduction, Core Areas of Activity, Operating and Financial 

Review, Performance and Evaluation, the Statement of 

Accounts (excluding the Statement on Internal Control) and the 

unaudited part of the Remuneration Report. I consider the 

implications for my report if I become aware of any apparent 

misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial 

statements. My responsibilities do not extend to any other 

information.

Certificate and Report of the Comptroller and 
Auditor General to the Houses of Parliament
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Basis of audit opinion 

I conducted my audit in accordance with International 

Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing 

Practices Board. My audit includes examination, on a test basis, 

of evidence relevant to the amounts, disclosures and regularity 

of financial transactions included in the financial statements and 

the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited. It also 

includes an assessment of the significant estimates and 

judgements made by the Board and Chief Executive in the 

preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the 

accounting policies are most appropriate to the Office of 

Communication’s circumstances, consistently applied and 

adequately disclosed. 

I planned and performed my audit so as to obtain all the 

information and explanations which I considered necessary in 

order to provide me with sufficient evidence to give reasonable 

assurance that the financial statements and the part of the 

Remuneration Report to be audited are free from material 

misstatement, whether caused by error, or by fraud or other 

irregularity and that, in all material respects, the expenditure 

and income have been applied to the purposes intended by 

Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the 

authorities which govern them. In forming my opinion I also 

evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of 

information in the financial statements and the part of the 

Remuneration Report to be audited. 

Opinion 

In my opinion: 

• The financial statements give a true and fair view in 

accordance with the Office of Communications Act 2002 

and directions made thereunder by the Secretaries of State 

for Trade and Industry and for Culture, Media and Sport, of 

the state of the Office of Communication’s affairs at 31 

March 2006 and of its surplus, total recognised gains and 

losses and cash flows for the period then ended; 

• The financial statements and the part of the Remuneration 

Report to be audited have been properly prepared in 

accordance with the Office of Communications Act 2002 

and directions made thereunder by the Secretaries of State 

for Trade and Industry and for Culture, Media and Sport; 

and

• In all material respects, the expenditure and income have 

been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and 

the financial transactions conform to the authorities which 

govern them. 

I have no observations to make on these financial statements. 

John Bourn 

Comptroller and Auditor General 

3 July 2006 

National Audit Office 

157-197 Buckingham Palace Road 

Victoria

London

SW1W 9SP
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The accounting policies and notes on pages 132 to 153 form part of these financial statements. 

Notes Year ended 
31 March 

2006
Year ended 

31 March 2005 
£’000 £’000

Income 2,3 156,020 145,405
Operating expenditure 

Staff costs 4 (49,841) (53,900)
Other operating costs 6 (74,565) (69,022)

Operating surplus 31,614 22,483

Exceptional (charge)/credit 
Future costs of vacant properties 7 (14) 3,682

Dividends receivable 8 - 683
Interest receivable 2,067 1,053
Interest payable 9 (1,044) (1,842)
Other finance income 210 -
Other finance costs 19,26 (442) (785)
Notional cost of capital credit 22 1,076 1,117
Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation 33,467 26,391

Taxation on interest receivable 211 (228)
Surplus on ordinary activities after taxation 33,678 26,163

Reversal of notional cost of capital credit 22 (1,076) (1,117)
Surplus for financial year 32,602 25,046

Income and Expenditure Account
for the year ended 31 March 2006
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Notes Year ended 
31 March 2006 

Year ended
31 March 2005 

£’000 £’000

Surplus for year 32,602 25,046

Unrealised surplus on revaluation of freehold land and buildings 20 - 959
Ofcom Defined Benefit Pension Plans 

Actual return less expected return on plan assets 26b 13,660 3,390
Experience (losses)/gains on pension scheme liabilities 26b,c (4,789) 6,430
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of pension scheme liabilities 26b,c (18,570) -

Total recognised gains for year 22,903 35,825

The accounting policies and notes on pages 132 to 153 form part of these financial statements. 

Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses
for the year ended 31 March 2006
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Notes 2006
Restated

2005
£’000 £’000

Fixed assets 
Intangible assets 10a 1,288 1,257
Tangible assets 10b 25,898 28,891

27,186 30,148
Current assets 
Debtors 11 12,958 12,947
Cash at bank and in hand 12 53,782 34,781

66,740 47,728

Creditors – amounts falling due within one year 14 (67,848) (59,184)
Net current liabilities (1,108) (11,456)
Total assets less current liabilities 26,078 18,692

Creditors – amounts falling due after more than one year 15 (7,885) (18,612)
Provisions for liabilities and charges 19 (13,037) (18,354)
Net liabilities excluding pension asset and liability 5,156 (18,274)

Pension asset 13 10,200 10,600
Pension liability 13 (921) (794)
Net liabilities including pension asset and liability 20 14,435 (8,468)

Reserves
Income and expenditure account 20 14,435 (9,559)
Revaluation reserve 20 - 1,091

14,435 (8,468)

The accounting policies and notes on pages 132 to 153 form part of these financial statements. 

These financial statements were approved by the Board on 20 June 2006. 

David Currie Stephen A Carter 

Chairman Chief Executive 

Balance Sheet
as at 31 March 2006
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Notes Year ended 
31 March 2006 

Year ended 
31 March 2005 

£’000 £’000

Net cash inflow from operating activities 21 40,001 25,993
Dividends received from joint ventures and associates 8 - 683
Taxation
UK corporation tax paid - (101)
Returns on investment and servicing of finance 

Interest received 2,067 1,053
Interest paid 9 (1,044) (1,842)
Net cash outflow for returns on investment and servicing of finance 1,023 (789)

Capital expenditure and financial investment 
Payments to acquire fixed assets (7,705) (4,828)
Proceeds from the disposal of fixed assets 3,492 88
Net cash outflow for capital expenditure and financial investment (4,213) (4,740)

Net cash inflow before financing 36,811 21,046

Financing
Loans repaid 16 (17,810) (17.810)
Net cash outflow from financing (17,810) (17,810)
Increase in net cash in the year 19,001 3,236

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movements in net funds
Increase in cash in the year 19,001 3,236
Decrease in debt in the year 16 17,810 17,810
Opening net funds/(debt) 6,599 (14,447)
Closing net funds 43,410 6,599

The accounting policies and notes on pages 132 to 153 form part of these financial statements. 

Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended 31 March 2006
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1. Accounting policies 

a) Basis of accounting 

These financial statements have been prepared on a going 

concern basis in accordance with the accounts direction from 

the Secretaries of State for Trade and Industry, and for Culture, 

Media and Sport issued on 10 November 2003. 

The financial statements have been prepared under the 

historical cost convention, modified by the revaluation of certain 

fixed assets and comply with the requirements of the 

Companies Act 1985, except where these are overridden by the 

Office of Communications Act 2002, and with applicable 

accounting standards.

b) Going concern 

The Board, having carefully considered Ofcom’s 2006/7 budget 

and funding needs for 12 months from the signature date of 

these financial statements, are confident that sufficient funding 

will be available to meet Ofcom’s liabilities as they fall due. 

Accordingly, it has been considered appropriate to adopt a 

going concern basis for the preparation of these financial 

statements.

c) Income recognition 

Spectrum management income 

This income comprises grant-in-aid from the DTI to meet the 

costs of spectrum management. This income is matched 

against cash costs incurred within the agreed allocation.  Grant-

in-aid receipts in excess of spectrum management costs are 

included in creditors as payments on account at the balance 

sheet date.

Spectrum Efficiency Scheme income 

This income comprises grant-in-aid from the DTI to meet the 

costs of spectrum efficiency projects. This income is matched 

against cash costs incurred within the agreed allocation. Grant-

in-aid receipts in excess of spectrum efficiency scheme costs 

are included in creditors as payments on account at the balance 

sheet date. 

Programme of spectrum auctions 

This income comprises grant-in-aid from the DTI to meet the 

costs of the programme of spectrum auctions projects. This 

income is matched against cash costs incurred within the 

agreed allocation. Grant-in-aid receipts in excess of spectrum 

auctions programme costs are included in creditors as 

payments on account at the balance sheet date. 

Networks and services administrative fees 

Income which comprises administrative fees invoiced by Ofcom 

is accounted for on an accruals basis. Income in excess of 

Networks and services’ cash costs and share of loan 

repayments is classified as deferred income on the balance 

sheet. Cash costs in excess of Income received are classified 

as a debtor at the balance sheet date. 

Broadcasting licence fees 

Income from Broadcasting licence fees represents the amount 

invoiced to licensees and is accounted for on an accruals basis. 

Television licence fees in excess of £25,000 a year and Radio 

licence fees in excess of £5,000 a year are payable in monthly 

instalments. Television licence fees of less than £25,000 a year 

and Radio licence fees less than £5,000 a year are payable as 

an annual sum on the grant and on the anniversary of the 

licence. Income in excess of Broadcasting’s cash costs and 

share of loan repayments is classified as deferred income on 

the balance sheet. 

Application fees 

One-off Broadcasting and Networks and services application 

fees are non-refundable and accordingly are recorded as 

income on receipt of the stakeholder application. 

Grant-in-aid and other income 

Grant-in-aid is accounted for in the period in which it is 

received. Amounts of grant-in-aid paid over in advance are 

included in creditors as payment on account at the balance 

sheet date.

Other income is accounted for on an accruals basis and is 

matched with the expenditure towards which it contributes.  

Notes to the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 March 2006
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d) Receipts collected by Ofcom within the scope 
of Section 400 of the Communications Act 2003 

Broadcasting Act Additional Payments and fines levied by 

Ofcom are remitted to the Consolidated Fund in accordance 

with Section 400 of the Communications Act 2003. Additionally, 

licence fees levied by Ofcom, arising from the issue or renewal 

of licences under the Wireless Telegraphy (WT) Acts are 

remitted to the DTI for payment to the Consolidated Fund.

No entries are made in these accounts in respect of Section 

400-related transactions except where payments and fees have 

been collected and are in an Ofcom bank account at the

balance sheet date. These are shown as due to the 

Consolidated Fund within Creditors due within one year. 

Ofcom prepares a separate set of accounts to 31 March each 

year for the purposes of Section 400 of the Communications Act 

2003. These accounts are laid before Parliament.

e) Leases 

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the 

Income and Expenditure account. For properties with initial rent-

free periods, the total rentals payable in the period until the first 

rent review are charged to the Income and Expenditure account 

on a straight-line basis over that period. 

f) Onerous property leases 

Where properties become surplus to requirements, professional 

advice is taken on marketing these properties and provision is 

made for the estimated future liabilities on these leases at 

current prices, and discounted using the Treasury discount rate 

of 2.2 per cent (2005: 3.5 per cent). Future rental income is only 

included in this calculation to the extent that it is reasonably 

certain. 

g) Early retirement and future pensions costs 

The Radiocommunications Agency and Oftel operated an Early 

Retirement Scheme which gave retirement benefits to certain 

qualifying employees. These benefits conform to the rules of the 

Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme (PCSPS). The liability 

of the Agency and Oftel to bear the costs of these benefits 

transferred to Ofcom on 29 December 2003. The liability 

remains until the normal retirement age of the employees 

retired under the Early Retirement Scheme. Provision is made 

for these additional costs, based on the discounted value of the 

annual amounts payable at the balance sheet. The actual 

amounts payable increase annually in accordance with PCSPS 

rules.

h) Settlement of claims 

Provision is made for estimated third party legal costs and 

damages in respect of challenges to regulatory decisions of 

Ofcom and legacy organisations where it is judged probable 

that these will be payable. 

i) Fixed assets  

Fixed assets are valued at cost or estimated replacement cost.

Intangible assets 

In accordance with FRS 10, expenditure on computer software 

is capitalised to the extent that it is probable the asset will 

generate future economic benefits. The expenditure capitalised 

includes the costs of software applications and related licences 

fees.

Amortisation on capitalised development costs is charged to the 

income statement on a straight-line basis, from the month 

following that in which an asset is brought into service, over the 

estimated useful life of the asset. For capitalised computer 

software, the estimated useful life is three years. 

Tangible assets 

In accordance with FRS 15, where land and buildings are 

revalued, professional valuations are obtained every five years, 

with interim valuations being made every three years. Where 

other fixed assets are revalued, on the grounds of materiality, 

Ofcom uses the Office of National Statistics indices. 

Assets under construction comprise of costs incurred in 

developing computer systems which will replace some of the 

current applications. Expenditure capitalised under this heading 

will be depreciated upon the asset being brought into use. 

Assets, with the exception of freehold land are depreciated 

once the asset is brought into use. Depreciation is provided on 

a straight-line basis, from the month following that in which an 

asset is brought into service, over the estimated useful life of 

the asset, as follows: 
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Buildings 50 years 
Fixtures & Fittings – Leasehold 

Properties
Period of the 

lease
Fixtures & Fittings – Furniture 7 years 
Office and Field Equipment 4 to 7 years 
Computer Hardware 3 years 
Motor Vehicles 5 years 

j) Research and development 

Research and development expenditure is written off as 

incurred to the Income and Expenditure account. 

k) Pension costs 

Ofcom participates in two defined benefit pension schemes 

which relate to staff that transferred to Ofcom from legacy 

organisations. These schemes are closed to new members.   

The Ofcom Defined Benefit Pension Plan provides benefits that 

are broadly equivalent to the PCSPS. Ofcom jointly participates 

with the Advertising Standards Authority in the scheme. The 

second scheme is the Ofcom (Former ITC) Staff Pension Plan 

where Ofcom is one of four participating employers. The assets 

of this scheme are held in a separately administered trust. FRS 

17 (Accounting for Pension Scheme Liabilities) is followed and 

the net assets of the schemes are included in the balance

sheet. The aggregate of the movement in the net assets of the 

two plans is shown in the Statement of Total Recognised Gains 

and Losses.

Ofcom also has liabilities in respect of pension payments to 

three former chairmen of the Independent Television 

Commission, two former chairmen of the Radio Authority and 

two former Director Generals of Telecommunications. These 

are unfunded schemes and are accounted for under FRS 17 

with a provision included in Ofcom’s balance sheet for the 

actuarial valuation of the liabilities.

New staff may join a stakeholder pension scheme, which is a 

defined contribution scheme. Pension contributions payable to 

defined contribution schemes are expensed as incurred. 

l) Foreign exchange 

Transactions designated in foreign currencies are translated 

into sterling at the rate of exchange prevailing at the transaction 

date. Monetary assets and liabilities designated in foreign 

currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the balance 

sheet date with the resulting profit or loss included in the 

Income and Expenditure account for the year.  

m)  Financial instruments and credit risk 

Ofcom had initial loan funding of £52.3m from the Secretary of 

State for Trade and Industry to fund its establishment and 

running costs prior to the vesting of powers to set licence and 

administrative fees under the Communications Act 2003. The 

interest rates for the loans made by the Secretary of State for 

Trade and Industry are fixed for the period of the loan with 

repayments due at six monthly intervals. Ofcom has limited 

powers to borrow money to fund short-term fluctuations in cash 

flow.

Interest is recognised over the period of the loan, calculated in 

accordance with the loan terms. 

Surplus funds generated by Ofcom’s operations are held as 

bank balances or short-term deposits.   

n) Tax 

HM Revenue and Customs has ruled that Ofcom’s regulatory 

functions do not constitute a trading business.  Consequently, 

Ofcom is unable to recover VAT on expenditure which it incurs 

as part of its normal operating activities.

Corporation Tax is assessable on interest received, and in 

respect of surplus property and commercial activities.

o) Capital charge 

Under the terms of Ofcom’s Financial Memorandum issued by 

the Secretary of State for Trade and Industry and the Secretary 

of State for Culture, Media and Sport, a credit, reflecting the 

return on Ofcom’s capital (in accordance with standard 

Government accounting practice), is made to the surplus before 

taxation. The charge is calculated in accordance with HM 

Treasury guidance at 3.5 per cent (2005 – 3.5 per cent) on the 

carrying amount of all relevant assets less relevant liabilities. 

This is reversed out to determine the retained surplus on 

ordinary activities after taxation. 

Notes to the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 March 2006
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p) Segmental analysis

For transparency and to meet with the requirements of the

Communications Act 2003 to provide information on cost and

fees, Note 2 to these accounts presents the Income and

Expenditure account for the year under review by sector. As a

public corporation, Ofcom is not required to present information

in accordance with SSAP25, Segmental Reporting.
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2. Sectoral analysis 

The analysis below refers to income by sector for the year ended 31 March 2006, together with attributable costs.   

Spectrum
management

Spectrum
efficiency 

scheme 
Spectrum
auctions

Networks
& services Broadcasting

Other
activities Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Revenue

Licence and administration fees - - - 25,163 34,233 - 59,396
Application fees - - - 30 1,376 - 1,406
Grant-in-aid 81,292 7,083 1,285 - - 3,679 93,339
Other income - - - - - 2,605 2,605
Accrued/(Deferred) income (189) (408) (168) 5,018 (4,771) (596) (1,114)

Total revenue 81,103 6,675 1,117 30,211 30,838 5,688 155,632

Rental and other income 220 - - 63 88 17 388
Operating income 81,323  6,675  1,117  30,274  30,926  5,705  156,020 
Interest receivable 1,172 - - 341 469 85 2,067
Total income 82,495 6,675 1,117 30,615 31,395 5,790 158,087

Loan repayments (12,624) - - (2,305) (2,881) - (17,810)

Interest payable (398) - - (287) (359) - (1,044)

Net operating income 69,473 6,675 1,117 28,023 28,155 5,790 139,233

Accrued rental income (136) - - (39) (54) (10) (239)

Cash income 69,337 6,675 1,117 27,984 28,101 5,780 138,994

Operating costs (69,337) (6,675) (1,117) (27,984) (28,101) (5,780) (138,994)
Total costs (69,337) (6,675) (1,117) (27,984) (28,101) (5,780) (138,994)

Surplus on cash cost basis - - - - - - -

Deferred/(Accrued) income 189 408 168 (5,018) 4,771 596 1,114

Under the Communications Act 2003, the regulatory responsibilities of five legacy organisations transferred to Ofcom. In addition, the Act 

gave Ofcom additional duties, some of which are funded directly by government grants. Other activities comprise: 

• grant-in-aid funded competition enquiries; 

• grant-in-aid funded media literacy work; 

• commercial activities including spectrum interference work; and 

• rental income from sub-letting vacant property space. 

In accordance with Ofcom’s accounting policies, as set out at Note 1c) to these accounts, grant-in-aid is accounted for in the period in 

which it is received.

Notes to the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 March 2006
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2. Sectoral analysis (continued) 

The table on the previous page is prepared on a cash cost basis and thus excludes non-cash charges (primarily depreciation, charges to 

the Income and Expenditure account for rent-free periods, non-cash movements on provisions and the current year utilisation of the

vacant property provision) less capital expenditure. 

Ofcom set licence and administrative fees for 2005/6, in accordance with the Statement of Charging Principles published 8 February

2005. Fees are based on an estimate of its revenue and capital cash costs for 2005/6. Deferred revenue, in the table above, represents a 

£1.1m surplus of income over Ofcom’s actual revenue and capital costs for 2005/6. This surplus will be rebated to Ofcom’s stakeholders

and therefore is deferred on the balance sheet at 31 March 2006.

Surpluses of £0.2m, £0.4m and £0.2m are included within the DTI grant-in-aid creditor and classified within Creditors: amounts falling due 

within one year. These amounts will be set off against spectrum management, spectrum efficiency scheme, and programme of spectrum

auction grant-in-aid claims respectively in 2005/6.

An estimate of the broadcasting surpluses was made in March 2006 and is classified within Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 

in these financial statements. This estimated surplus of £3.5m is being passed back to the broadcasting stakeholders as a reduction in the 

2006/7 licence and administrative fees. The difference between the March 2006 estimate for the purpose of the tariff calculation of surplus 

income, and the actual outturn, totals £1.2m, and will be adjusted for in setting the 2007/8 tariffs and within these financial statements has 

been classified within Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year. With respect to the Network and Services sector, an 

estimate of a £4.1m deficit was made in March 2006 and is classified within Debtors, with the amount being recovered from the relevant 

stakeholders in increased administrative charges in 2006/7. The difference between the March 2006 estimate and the actual outturn, an 

additional £ .0 m deficit, is classified within Debtors and will be recovered from stakeholders. 

Reconciliation of sectoral analysis to surplus after taxation 

Reconciliation from cash operating costs to operating budget out-turn 

Notes 2006
£’000

Surplus on ordinary activities after taxation 33,678
Adjustments in respect of pension asset and liability (8,958)
Vacant property costs 7,19 (4,855)
Other finance costs 19,26 442
Other finance income (210)
Cost of capital credit (1,076)
Net adjustments (1,211)

17,810
DTI loan repayable (17,810)
Surplus on cash cost basis after loan repayments -

2006
£’000

Cash operating costs 138,994
Spectrum efficiency costs (6,675)
Programme of spectrum auctions (1,117)
Other income (2,216)
Operating budget outturn 128,986

9
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3. Income 

2006 2005
£’000 £’000

Grant-in-aid – DTI – Spectrum management 81,103 81,676
Grant-in-aid – DTI – Spectrum efficiency scheme 6,675 3,129
Grant-in-aid – DTI – Programme of spectrum auctions 1,117 -
Grant-in-aid – DTI – Competition law enforcement 3,063 4,177
Grant-in-aid – DCMS – Media literacy 559 559
Total government grant-in-aid 92,517 89,541

Networks & services administrative fees 30,181 21,722
Networks & services application fees 30 62
Networks & services amounts received in relation to legacy organisation - 1,679
Broadcasting Act licence fees 29,995 28,278
Broadcasting Act application fees 843 856
Rental income 354 353
Other income 2,100 2,914
Income 156,020 145,405

4. Staff costs 

2006 2005
£’000 £’000

Staff costs, including fees paid to Board Members, were: 
Salaries & benefits 41,034 39,703
National Insurance costs 4,858 4,553
Pension costs 2,840 4,362
Restructuring costs 1,109 5,282
Total staff costs 49,841 53,900

More detailed information in respect of the remuneration and pension entitlements of the directors and senior executives is shown in the 

remuneration report on pages 116 to 122.

Restructuring costs of £1.1m (2005: 5.3m) have been incurred in streamlining the organisation’s operations and technology functions to 

meet the requirements of all the sectors regulated by Ofcom. 

Notes to the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 March 2006
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5. Employee numbers 

2006 2005

The average number of employees was 762 768

As at 31 March 2006, Ofcom had 776 employees (2005: 753).  

Non-Executive Members of the Ofcom Board, Content Board and Advisory Committees are excluded from employee numbers. 

Colleagues seconded to Ofcom are excluded from the above figures. 

6. Other operating costs 

2006 2005
£’000 £’000

Auditors remuneration – statutory audit fees 90 100
Professional fees 11,299 7,350
Outsourced services 4,405 5,258
Audience and consumer research 4,765 4,386
Technological research and spectrum efficiency projects 8,686 3,410
Seconded staff 589 3,423
Temporary staff and recruitment 3,087 2,670
Travel and subsistence 1,710 1,645
Information and technology costs 14,283 14,961
Administration and office expenses 10,175 9,658
Premises costs 8,494 8,785
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 17 205
Amortisation 859 -
Depreciation 6,106 7,171
Total other operating costs 74,565 69,022
The costs, above, include: 
Operating leases – land and buildings 4,228 4,583
Operating leases – other 94 699

Total other operating costs include £6.7m for spectrum efficiency projects (2005: £3.1m) and £1.1m of expenditure for the programme of 

spectrum auctions (2005: £nil).
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7. Exceptional (charge)/credit 

2006 2005
£’000 £’000

Future costs of vacant properties (14) 3,682

The vacant property (charge)/credit are in respect of five (2005: 12) leasehold properties not used by Ofcom at 31 March 2006. The 

charge in 2005/6 represents the net adjustment to future liabilities arising as a result of the sub-letting of vacant property during the 

financial year under review and a reduction in the discount rate from 3.5 per cent to 2.2 per cent. The charge has no effect on cash flows 

in the year under review. 

8. Dividends receivable 

2006 2005
£’000 £’000

Dividends receivable - 683

In September 2004, Ofcom transferred its shareholding in RSI as part of the consideration for the renegotiation of the IS services

agreement between Ofcom and LogicaCMG. No further dividends are due to be received. 

9. Interest payable 

2006 2005
£’000 £’000

On DTI loan 1,044 1,842

Notes to the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 March 2006



www.ofcom.org.uk  Ofcom Annual Report 2005/6 | 141

Accounts |   Section E

10. Fixed assets 

(a) Intangible 

‘Restated’
Computer

software Total
 I £'000 £'000

COST
At 1 April 2005 2,330 2,330

Additions during year 920 920
Disposals (208) (208)
Cost at 31 March 2006 3,042 3,042

AMORTISATION
At 1 April 2005 1,073 1,073
Charge for the year 859 859
Disposals (178) (178)
Accumulated amortisation at  
31 March 2006 

1,754 1,754

NBV 31 March 2006 1,288 1,288

NBV 31 March 2005 (‘Restated’) 1,257 1,257

Information systems assets were reviewed during the year and where separately identifiable intangible assets relating to application

software and related licences were reclassified to better reflect the nature of these assets. As a result, assets originally classified as 

information systems are now restated as computer software under intangible assets (note 10a) and computer hardware under tangible

assets (note 10b). 
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10. Fixed assets (continued)

(b) Tangible

Land &
buildings

Fixtures &
fittings

Office &
field

equipment

‘Restated’
Computer
hardware

Motor
vehicles

Assets
under

construction Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

COST

At 1 April 2005 3,749 14,686 13,737 2,256 1,540 - 35,968

Additions during year 457 147 245 1,148 - 4,595 6,592

Disposals (2,964) - (1,039) (54) (72) - (4,129)

Cost at 31 March 2006 1,242 14,833 12,943 3,350 1,468 4,595 38,431

DEPRECIATION

At 1 April 2005 135 2,369 3,393 666 514 - 7,077

Charge for the year 132 2,164 2,675 760 375 - 6,106

Disposals (96) - (472) (30) (52) - (650)

Accumulated depreciation at
31 March 2006

171 4,533 5,596 1,396 837 - 12,533

NBV 31 March 2006 1,071 10,300 7,347 1,954 631 4,595 25,898

NBV 31 March 2005 (‘Restated’) 3,614 12,317 10,344 1,590 1,026 - 28,891

The freehold land and buildings at Whyteleafe were sold for £3.0m on 31 March 2006. Office and field equipment held at Whyteleafe were
disposed of during the year for £0.4m. Computer hardware assets shown above have been restated. Please refer to note 10a.

11.  Debtors

2006 2005
£’000 £’000

Trade debtors 4,401 6,736
Other debtors 78 282
Prepayments 2,898 4,560
Staff loans and advances 249 225
Accrued income 5,332 837
VAT - 307

12,958 12,947

Included within accrued income above is £1.2m (2005: £0.1m) of debtors recoverable after more than one year.

Notes to the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 March 2006



www.ofcom.org.uk  Ofcom Annual Report 2005/6 | 143

Accounts |   Section E

12.  Cash at bank and in hand 

2006 2005
£’000 £’000

Cash at bank and in hand 53,382 34,781
Spectrum Auction deposits 400 -

53,782 34,781

On the 21 March 2006, Ofcom received £0.4m from companies taking part in an auction of 12 WT Act licences for a total of 6.6 MHz of 
spectrum. These funds were held by Ofcom in a separate bank account in respect of 16 deposits of £25,000 each received from the
respective bidders. Except in certain circumstances specified in the relevant Regulations, these deposits were refundable if licences were 
not granted to the bidders. 

The single-round sealed bid auction took place on 20 April 2006, and the licences awarded were effective immediately on Ofcom’s receipt 
of the balances payable on their bids by the successful companies. Twelve licences were awarded. The deposits of the four unsuccessful
bidders were repaid in May 2006. 

13.  Pension asset and liability 

2006 2005
£’000 £’000

Defined benefit pension plans’ surplus 10,200 10,600

Unfunded pensions liability 921 794

Further detail in respect of Ofcom pension schemes can be found at Note 26 to these accounts.  

14.  Creditors – amounts falling due within one year 

2006 2005
£’000 £’000

Amounts due to Consolidated Fund 3,721 3,428
Trade creditors 5,218 3,708
Corporation tax payable - 211
Other tax and social security 1,433 1,865
Other creditors 792 507
Spectrum Auction deposits held 400 -
VAT 22 -
DTI grant-in-aid 28,428 10,116
Loan funding from DTI 5,186 17,810

Accruals 14,033 13,139
Deferred income 8,615 8,400

67,848 59,184

Amounts due to Consolidated Fund comprise £3.7m (2005: £3.3m) of WT Act licence fees received and £nil (2005: £0.1m) of amounts

owed to the Consolidated Fund by Oftel. Other creditors includes £0.4m of Community Radio Grant funding received from the Department

of  Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS). All grants monies received were paid to the successful applicants in April 2006. r
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15.  Creditors – amounts falling due after more than one year 

2006 2005
£’000 £’000

Loan funding from DTI 5,186 10,372
Rent free creditor 1,421 4,235
Deferred income 1,278 4,005

7,885 18,612

16.  Analysis of DTI loan movement 

2006 2005
£’000 £’000

At 1 April 2005 28,182 45,992
Repaid in year (17,810) (17,810)
At 31 March 2006 10,372 28,182

Notes to the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 March 2006
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17.  Schedule of loans 

First repayment Last repayment Original loan 
Repaid to 

date
Loan outstanding 
at 31 March 2006 

Interest
rate

£’000 £’000 £’000

31 March 2003 March 2004 March 2006 4,304 4,304 - 3.7%

8 April 2003 March 2004 March 2006 500 500 - 4.1%
22 April 2003 March 2004 March 2006 2,548 2,548 - 4.0%

17 June 2003 March 2004 March 2006 2,439 2,439 - 3.6%
11 July 2003 March 2004 March 2006 2,206 2,206 - 3.7%
15 August 2003 March 2004 March 2006 2,481 2,481 - 4.4%
22 August 2003 March 2004 March 2006 1,000 1,000 - 4.4%
17 September 2003 March 2004 March 2006 3,372 3,372 - 4.3%
23 September 2003 March 2004 March 2006 2,000 2,000 - 4.4%
15 October 2003 March 2004 March 2006 5,607 5,607 - 4.6%
14 November 2003 March 2004 March 2006 5,102 5,102 - 4.7%
15 December 2003 September 2004 March 2008 11,920 5,960 5,960 4.6%
2 January 2004 September 2004 March 2008 8,825 4,413 4,412 4.5%

52,304 41,932 10,372

The weighted average interest rate at 31 March 2006 is 4.5 per cent (2005: 4.4 per cent). 

In accordance with an agreement dated 14 October 2003, the DTI provided fixed rate loan funding in the periods prior to Ofcom 

generating income. Interest rates were set with reference to the prevailing HM Treasury interest rate at the dates of drawdown.

18.  Maturity of the DTI loan 

2006 2005
£’000 £’000

Less than one year 5,186 17,810
One to two years 5,186 5,186
Two to five years - 5,186

10,372 28,182

There is no difference between the book value and the fair value of the loan at the balance sheet date. 
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19.  Provisions for liabilities and charges 

Early
retirement

Vacant
property

Other
provisions Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 2005 2,848 15,236 270 18,354
Restatement of discount factor

1
(341) 407 66

Discount unwound in year 55 344 - 399
Utilised in year (821) (4,869) (125) (5,815)
Provision increased/(released) 70 (393) 356 33
At 31 March 2006 1,811 10,725 501 13,037

1
Pension provisions have been calculated in accordance with actuarial advice. Provisions have been calculated in accordance with the 

requirements of FRS 12. All provisions, with the exceptions of other provisions, are discounted by 2.2 per cent per annum (2005: 3.5 per 

cent per annum). The restatement of discount factor above reflects the change in the discount rate on 1 April 2005. 

The provision for early retirement £1.8m (2005: £2.8m) is for early retirement costs of former employees of Oftel, the 

Radiocommunications Agency and Ofcom and is payable primarily in the periods to 2014. 

The provision for vacant property includes properties with leases which terminate between 2006 and 2020. This is in respect of properties

previously occupied by legacy organisations, but now surplus to requirements. Professional advice has been taken in marketing vacant

property and future income streams are recognised as and when sub-letting of properties is reasonably certain. The provision is the net 

present value (NPV) of the expected cash outflows arising as a result of lease commitments transferred to Ofcom, net of the discounted

value of future income streams secured from committed and reasonably certain future sub-letting agreements.

Other provisions reflect an assessment of costs relating to challenges to regulatory decisions which are expected to crystallise within one 

to two years, and a provision of £0.4m for future redundancy costs expected to be paid in 2006/7.

20.  Reserves 

Income & 
expenditure 

account Revaluation Total
£’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 2005 (9,559) 1,091 (8,468)
Disposal of revalued assets 1,091 (1,091) -
Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension plans (9,699) - (9,699)
Surplus for financial year 32,602 - 32,602
At 31 March 2006 14,435 - 14,435

2006 2005
£’000 £’000

Income & expenditure reserve excluding pension asset and liability 5,156 (19,365)
Pension reserve 9,279 9,806

14,435 (9,559)

Notes to the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 March 2006
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21.  Reconciliation of operating surplus to net cash inflow from operating activities 

2006 2005
£’000 £’000

Operating surplus 31,614 22,483
Amortisation 859 -
Depreciation 6,106 7,171
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 17 205
Taxation 211 -
(Increase) in debtors (11) (1,230)
Increase in creditors 16,107 4,605
(Decrease) in provisions (5,730) (6,434)
(Increase) in pension assets and liabilities (9,172) (807)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 40,001 25,993

22.  Cost of capital

For the DTI loan, the cost of capital is the interest payable in the year. Interest receivable is the financial return on cash balances. 

For all other net assets (except Consolidated Fund creditors, which are excluded in accordance with standard Government accounting

practice), the cost of capital is calculated at 3.5 per cent (2005: 3.5 per cent) per annum in accordance with HM Treasury guidance.

23.  Commitments under operating leases 

Land & 
buildings Other Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

Annual commitments under operating leases expiring: 
within one year 150 17 167
between two and five years 2,794 28 2,822
after five years 6,651 - 6,651
Total 9,595 45 9,640

24.  Subsidiaries 

Broadcast Training and Skills Regulator Limited was incorporated on 6 July 2005. The principal activity of the company is to regulate
training in the broadcast industry. The company is limited by guarantee and Ofcom is its sole member. During the year the company had 
a turnover of £0.3m and an operating profit after taxation of £0.1m. At 31 March 2006, the total receivable by Ofcom from subsidiary
undertakings was £0.1m and due for repayment in June 2006. Due to the size and extent of the subsidiary’s operations during the current 
financial year, the company’s operating results have not been consolidated in this report. 
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25. Gaelic Media Service 

In accordance with Section 210 of the Communications Act 2003 and Section 183 of the Broadcasting Act 1990, the Scottish Ministers

paid £8.5m (2005: £8.5m) to Ofcom. This sum has not been reflected in these accounts but has been paid by Ofcom to the Gaelic 

Broadcasting Fund under the management of the Seirbheis nam Meadhanan Gàidhlig (the Gaelic Media Service). The Gaelic Media 

Service prepares separate reports and accounts to 31 March each year. These are sent by Ofcom to the Secretary of State for Scotland

and Scottish Ministers to be laid before the Scottish Parliament. 

26. Pensions 

a) Stakeholder pension plan 

Ofcom's primary means of providing pension benefits to its colleagues is by contributing to a stakeholder pension plan, which is a defined 

contribution pension plan. Employer contributions (payable at rates between 8 per cent and 25 per cent dependent on staff grade) of 

£2.0m were made in the year ended 31 March 2006 (2005: £2.0m). At 31 March 2006, accruals of £0.2m (2005: £0.2m) were held in 

respect of unpaid employer contributions to the stakeholder pension plan.   

b) Closed pension plans 

Ofcom also operates two closed defined benefit pension plans: 

• the Ofcom Defined Benefit Pension Plan which was established on 29 December 2003. A full actuarial valuation was carried out 

as at 29 December 2003 by a qualified independent actuary. The employer contribution made to the Ofcom Defined Benefit 

Pension Plan for the year ending 31 March 2006 was £7.8m (2005: £2.2m). This included a special contribution of £4m to cover 

the actuarial deficit in the pension plan. This rate will be reviewed following the next actuarial valuation. Ofcom also operates a 

defined contribution section to the plan and made contributions of £0.1m for the year ending 31 March 2006 (2005: £0.1m); and 

• the Ofcom (Former ITC) Pension Plan which Ofcom jointly participates in with three other organisations, S4C, S4C Masnachol 

and the Advertising Standards Authority. A full actuarial valuation for this plan was carried out as at 1 January 2004 and updated 

to 31 March 2006 by a qualified independent actuary. The employer contribution made to the Ofcom (former ITC) Pension Plan 

for the year ending 31 March 2006 was £1.8m (payable in monthly instalments) (2005: £1.0m).   

The projected unit rate was used to derive the service cost for these plans. Under this method the current service cost will increase (when 

measured as a percentage of salary costs) as the members of the plan approach retirement.   

Assumptions

The major assumptions used by the independent actuary for accounting purposes only are: 

2006 2005
% %

Discount rate 5.0 5.5
Rate of increase in salaries 4.5 4.3
Rate of increase in payment of pre-97 excess over GMP pensions 3.0 2.8
Rate of increase in payment of post-97 excess over GMP pensions  3.0 2.8
Inflation assumption 3.0 2.8

These assumptions have led to Ofcom recording an accounting pension asset in accordance with FRS 17. However, the actuarial 

valuations have shown that the Ofcom Pension Plan is in deficit, and Ofcom makes contributions in accordance with the actuary’s

recommendations to fund the deficit. 

Notes to the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 March 2006
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Balance sheet 

The assets in the plans and the expected rate of return were: 

Long-term rate of 
return expected at 

31 March 2006 

Value at 
31 March 

2006

Long-term
rate of return 
expected at 

31 March 
2005

Value at 
31 March 

2005
% £’000 % £’000

Corporate bonds 5.0 5,700 5.5 1,800
Index-linked bonds 4.0 153,200 4.5 126,500
Equities 7.5 37,600 7.8 39,200
Property N/A - N/A -
Cash 4.5 1,600 4.5 900
Total market value of assets 198,100 168,400

Present value of plan liability (187,900) (157,800)
Net pension asset 10,200 10,600

Analysis of the amount charged to operating surplus 2006 2005
£’000 £’000

Current service cost 2,420 3,000
Curtailment and settlement (1,100) -
Total operating charge 1,320 3,000

Analysis of the amount credited to other finance income 2006 2005
£’000 £’000

Expected return on pension plans’ assets 8,760 8,390
Interest on pension liabilities (8,550) (8,400)
Net return 210 (10)
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26. Pensions (continued)

Analysis of the amount recognised in the Statement of Total Recognised 
Gains and Losses (STRGL) 

2006 2005

£’000 £’000

Actual return less expected return on plans’ assets 13,660 3,390
Experience (losses)/gains arising on the plans’ liabilities (4,740) 6,430
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of pension scheme liabilities (18,500) -

Actuarial (loss)/gain recognised in STRGL (9,580) 9,820

Movement in surplus during the year 2006 2005
£’000 £’000

Surplus in plans at 1 April 10,600 20
Total current service cost (2,420) (3,000)
Employer's contributions (including those unpaid at measurement date) 10,290 3,770
Curtailment and settlement gain 1,100 -
Other finance income 210 (10)
Actuarial (loss)/gain (9,580) 9,820
Surplus in plans at 31 March 10,200 10,600

History of experience gains and losses 2006 2005
Difference between the expected and actual return on scheme assets: 

Amount (£’000) 13,660 3,390
Percentage of schemes assets 6.9% 2.0%

Experience (losses)/gains on schemes liabilities: 
Amount (£’000) (4,740) 6,430
Percentage of the present value of the schemes liabilities (2.5%) 4.1%

Total amount recognised in statement of total recognised (losses)/gains: 
Amount (£’000) (9,580) 9,820
Percentage of the present value of the schemes liabilities (5.1%) 6.2%

Notes to the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 March 2006



www.ofcom.org.uk  Ofcom Annual Report 2005/6 | 151

Accounts |   Section E

c) Unfunded pension liabilities 

The pension provision is in respect of the unfunded pension liabilities which fall to Ofcom for former Chairmen of the Independent

Television Commission and the Radio Authority and former Director Generals of Telecommunications. The pension provision is unfunded,

with the benefits being paid as they fall due and guaranteed by Ofcom. There is no fund, and therefore no surplus or deficit.  Actuarial

advice has been sought to ensure that the provision is set at a realistic level. 

An actuarial valuation was carried out by Towers Perrin as at 31 March 2006. The same bases and assumptions as noted above in 

respect of the defined benefit schemes.  

Analysis of the amount charged to operating surplus/(deficit) 2006
£’000

Current service cost 12
Total operating charge 12

Analysis of the amount debited to other finance costs 2006
£’000

Interest on pension liabilities (43)
Net return (43)

Analysis of the amount recognised in the Statement of Total Recognised 
Gains and Losses (STRGL) 

2006
£’000

Experience losses arising on the plans’ liabilities (49)
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of pension scheme liabilities (70)

Actuarial loss recognised in STRGL (119)

Movement in deficit during the year 2006
£’000

Deficit in plans at 1 April 794
Total current service cost 12
Employer's contributions (including those unpaid at measurement date) (50)
Employee contributions 3
Other finance costs 43
Actuarial loss 119
Deficit in plans at 31 March 921
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27. Related parties 

Ofcom does not consider that its regulatory and licensing role 

creates the relationship of a related party between itself and 

licence holders as defined by Financial Reporting Standard 8, 

''Related Party Transactions''.

Members of the Board submit an annual declaration confirming 

that they have no interests prejudicial to their function as a 

Member of Ofcom. There were no purchases or sales 

transactions between Ofcom and its Members. 

The following Board Members also held senior positions within 

legacy organisations: 

Sara Nathan – Member of the Radio Authority until December 

2003.

In addition, Richard Hooper, who was an Ofcom Board Member 

until 31 December 2005  – Chairman of the Radio Authority until 

July 2003. 

The Secretaries of State for the Department of Trade and 

Industry (DTI) and the Department for Culture, Media and Sport 

(DCMS) are regarded as the controlling related parties of 

Ofcom under the terms of the Office of Communications Act 

2002.

Details of the loan funding from the DTI are provided at Notes 

16 to 18 of these financial statements. Details of all grant-in-aid 

income from DTI and DCMS are provided at Note 3 and Note 

14 respectively of these financial statements. 

 At 31 March 2006, the following creditors were held in respect 

of grant-in-aid provided by the DTI: 

• spectrum management –  £24.0m (2005: £9.6m); 

• Spectrum Efficiency Scheme – £2.2m (2005: £0.5m); 

• Programme of spectrum auctions – £1.1m (2005: £nil); and 

• competition law enforcement –  £1.1m (2005: £0.1m). 

Ofcom made payments of £0.4m (2005 £2.9m) to DTI in respect 

of the full employment costs of colleagues seconded by the DTI 

to Ofcom in the year.

28. Financial instruments 

Ofcom has no significant exposure to liquidity, interest rate or 

currency risks.  FRS 13, Derivatives and Other Financial 

Instruments, requires disclosure of the role which financial 

instruments have had during the year in creating or changing 

the risks an entity faces in undertaking its activities.  Because of 

the nature of its activities and the way in which Ofcom is 

financed, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced 

by business entities.

Moreover, financial instruments play a much more limited role in 

creating or changing risk than would be typical of the listed 

companies to which FRS 13 mainly applies. Ofcom has very 

limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds, all debts carry 

fixed interest rates and financial assets and liabilities that are 

generated by day-to-day operational activities do not change 

the risks facing Ofcom in undertaking its activities. 

There is no material difference at the balance sheet date 

between the fair value and the carrying value of financial assets 

and liabilities. 

As permitted by FRS 13, debtors and creditors which mature or 

become payable within 12 months of the balance sheet date 

have been omitted from this assessment. 

Notes to the Accounts 
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29. Capital commitments 

At 31 March 2006 there were capital commitments of £1.6m 

(2005: £1.0m). 

30. Receipts transferred to the 
Consolidated Fund 

In accordance with Section 400 of the Communications Act 

2003, Ofcom remitted £115.8m (2005: £265.3m) of 

Broadcasting Act Additional Payments and fines to the 

Consolidated Fund and Treasuries. During the year Ofcom  

received a refund of £52.9m from the Consolidated Fund to 

enable it to make refunds to licensees following revisions of 

their licence terms.

£165.5m (2005: £140.4m) of WT Act licence fees was remitted 

to the Department of Trade and Industry for transfer to the 

Consolidated Fund. Details on amounts due to the Consolidated 

Fund at 31 March 2006 are disclosed at Note 14 to these 

financial statements. 

31. Contingent liabilities 

In April 2004, Ofcom entered into a contract with The 

Telephone Preference Service Ltd whereby the contractor may 

recover from Ofcom any loss if the contract is terminated 

through no fault of the contractor (for example, a change in 

Government policy). The contract does not allow for loss of 

profit compensation and the contractor is under duty to mitigate 

loss once termination notice is given. An amount of £0.5m 

(2005: £0.5m) has been identified as a potential liability. 

Additionally, in November 2004, Ofcom entered into a 10-year 

deed to contract out the regulation of broadcast advertising 

content to the Advertising Standards Authority. In the event of 

early termination of this deed, except where there has been a 

material breach of the deed, Ofcom may be liable for 

termination compensation. At 31 March 2006, Ofcom’s 

contingent liability was £2.5m (2005: £2.9m). 

From time to time, Ofcom will be subject to legal challenge and 

judicial review of decisions made in the normal course of its 

business as regulator of the communications sector. Legal 

judgements could give rise to liabilities for legal costs. Provision 

has been made in these financial statements (see note 19) for 

costs which are quantifiable. However, in some cases costs 

cannot be quantified, because the outcome of proceedings is 

unknown, and there is therefore considerable uncertainty as to 

the nature and extent of any subsequent liability. 

32. Whole of government accounts 

At 31 March 2006, £42.5m (2005: £41.7m) was owed by Ofcom 

to central government bodies. There are no balances with local 

authorities, NHS Trusts or public corporations and trading 

funds.
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